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1. CALL TO ORDER: 

2. ROLL CALL: 

3. AMENDMENTS TO & APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  

4. MEETING MINUTES FOR REVIEW:  June 1, 2022 Meeting Minutes 

5. SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

6.1   
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7. NEW BUSINESS 

8. PUBLIC COMMENT 

9. ADJOURNMENT 

ZMA 22-06  Zoning Map Amendment 
Parcel Number  64-14-19-426-013 & 64-14-19-426-003 

Applicant  B.Y.O.P. Properties Cesar Chavez, LLC 
Current Zoning  R-1 One Family Residential Dwelling District 

& M-1 Light Manufacturing 
Proposed Use  Medical Marihuana Grower and Processor 

SEP 22-06  Special Exemption Permit 
Parcel Number  64-14-34-326-004 

Applicant  Crown Enterprises, LLC 
Current Zoning  R-1 One Family Residential Dwelling District 

M-1 Light Manufacturing District 
Proposed Use  Concrete Batch Plant and Outdoor Storage 



CITY OF PONTIAC - PLANNING COMMISSION

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 1, 2022

6:00 P.M.

A meeting before the Planning Commission 

held at 47450 Woodward Avenue, Council Chambers, 

Pontiac, Michigan.

   BOARD COMMISSIONERS:

   Ashley Fegley, Chair

   Mona Parlove, Vice Chair

   Christopher Northcross, Commissioner

   Tim Shepard, Commissioner

   Mike McGuinness, Commissioner

   Vernita Duvall, Commissioner

   

   CITY OFFICIALS PRESENT:

   Vernon Gustafsson, Planning Manager

   Donovan Smith, City Planner

   REPORTED BY:

   Kelly Hairston
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MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ADDRESSING THE PLANNING COMMISSION:

William Carrington

Tarik Dinha
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(CALL TO ORDER:  Chairperson Fegley called 

the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m.)

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Good evening, 

everyone.  We will begin tonight's Pontiac Planning 

Commission meeting for June 1st, 2022.  I will go ahead 

and introduce everyone.  To my far left is Donovan 

Smith and then is Vernita Duvall, Mike McGuinness, 

Christopher Northcross, and far right Vern Gustafsson, 

Tim Shepard, Mona Parlove and I'm Ashley Fegley.  I 

will call the meeting to order.  Roll call, please?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yes.  Chair Fegley? 

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Present.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Present.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Present.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall? 

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Present.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Present.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Present.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  We have a quorum.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  I do not 

believe there will be any amendments to the agenda.  
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May I have a motion to approve the current agenda?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  So moved.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  I make a motion, how 

about that?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Okay.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Who is second?

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  We both did it.  We 

both kind of did it.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Motioned and 

seconded.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Okay.  Now I got it.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call, please?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yes, Commissioner 

Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And Chair Fegley?  
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CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Agenda passed as 

presented.  

AYES:  Fegley, Duvall, Northcross, 

Shepard, McGuinness, Parlove.  

NAYS:  (None.)

ABSTAIN:  (None.)

MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Our next is meeting 

minutes for review.  Commissioner Duvall, do you have 

any comments or questions for the minutes?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  No, I do not.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  Commissioner 

McGuinness?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  No, I do not. 

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  No, I do not. 

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Shepard? 

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  No.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Parlove? 

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  No, I do not.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  I do not either.  May 

I have a motion to approve the minutes for May 4th, 

2022?  
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VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  I make a motion to 

approve the minutes of May 4th, 2022.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Second.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove? 

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And Chair Fegley?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve.  

AYES:  Fegley, Duvall, Northcross, 

Shepard, McGuinness, Parlove.  

NAYS:  (None.)

ABSTAIN:  (None.)

MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  There are no special 

presentations.  Our first public hearing is 6.1 SEP 
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22-04 is a special exception permit for -- it doesn't 

have an address on it.  

MR. SMITH:  Yeah, it doesn't have an 

address and I'll speak to that.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  Go right 

ahead.  

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Chair.  Welcome 

everyone.  Our first case today is Special Exemption 

22-04 and the associated Preliminary Site Plan SPR 

22-12.  Applicant, Greg Lautzenheiser, L + A 

Architects.  This is for a drive-thru facility and a 

new construction Taco Bell.  The parcel, we'll kind of 

get into it, does not currently exist.  They're 

proposing to do a split to create the parcel.  So the 

parcel as it exists today is 450 East Walton, but that 

will change if they are approved and they acquire a new 

parcel number.  So we'll -- I'll touch on that a little 

later on.  

The parcel is Zone C-3 Corridor 

Commercial.  As I mentioned, this is a preliminary site 

plan interview and special exemption permit for a 

proposed Taco Bell drive-thru facility.  We're going to 

split this up into two motions, one for the special 

exemption we'll do first, close the public hearing, 

then -- we'll close public hearing then we'll roll into 
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the preliminary site plan and then we'll do both at the 

end, okay?  

So for your point of reference, the 

property is located along East Walton just west of the 

intersection at Joslyn.  It's located just north of JC 

Park.  You can see the ball fields to the south of the 

red rectangle.  A few months ago, we -- or the 

Commission did approve a Dollar General at that same 

location.  The owners of that property essentially 

split it, used the one half for an approved Dollar 

General and this Taco Bell is being proposed on the 

second parcel.  So that's why it's presented that 

way.  

You can see the McDonald's at the 

intersection in the (inaudible) site just to the east.  

So heading eastbound on upper left, you 

can see that property just to the right of that large 

(inaudible) it would be JC Park across that drive.  So 

you're looking towards Joslyn heading eastbound, and 

then on westbound, the heavily wooded or tree areas to 

the right of the screen, that is JC Park.  So in the 

vacant land just to the left is also the proposed 

location that they anticipate to build this new 

construction facility.  

As mentioned, parcel is zoned C-3 Corridor 
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Commercial.  We did or the Commission did vote to 

approve and the rezoning for that parcel from -- it was 

residential.  A rezoning was approved to change it to 

C-3 to allow the initial Dollar General at that 

location.  So that was completed, so the zoning, the 

underlying zoning is appropriate for the use.  However, 

special exemptions are required for all drive-thrus, no 

matter the district, whether it's a bank, a pharmacy 

drive-thru or a fast food drive-thru.  They all require 

special exemption permit.  

So our ordinance or the zoning ordinance 

does have what we call a specific criteria for -- these 

are rules and regulations related directly to specific 

uses.  So Section 2.535 does highlight several specific 

requirements for a drive-thru facility.  Granted, if 

these criteria are met, then that would mean that the 

site is eligible for that proposed special exemption 

permit.  Those are as following:  Complete or street 

access, this is having a frontage on an A or B street, 

does comply.  The building design, drive-thru uses must 

be built as an integral architectural element of the 

facility.  It does comply with that.  The principal 

building to which the drive-thru use is an accessory 

should be located at or near street back sight line.  

It does meet that criteria.  The drive-thru set back, 
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the building must be located no more than 10 feet when 

adjacent to a residential property, it does meet that 

criteria.  

There is a requirement for stacking 

spaces, the ordinance requires 8 stacking spaces per 

drive-thru lane.  It does meet that requirement.  

There's mention of the stacking lanes are 

in compliance with the zoning ordinance.  The location 

of the stacking lane is in compliance.  Based on the 

location of that drive-thru lane, it does not provide 

any nuisance headlight glare and it does provide an 

escape plan for those who wish to get out of that 

line.  

So in addition to the specific criteria, 

there are also general special exemption criteria which 

we also review in conjunction with those specific 

criteria, and it does comply with all 7, which speak to 

the harmonious nature of the proposed development in 

compliance with the master plan, how it is designed, 

constructed and proposed to be operated in compliance 

with the ordinance and harmonious to the character of 

the neighborhood.  It does not change or does not 

propose to change the essential character of the 

neighborhood.  It is not to be hazardous or disturbing 

to the existing or potential future uses to the site or 
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the immediate area.  

It would be adequately served by essential 

public facilities services, police, fire protection and 

the like.  It does not involve uses, activities, 

processes or materials that will be detrimental to any 

person or the property or general welfare such as 

excessive noise, smoke, fumes, glare, etcetera.  And 

lastly, it does maintain -- all proposed structures can 

be readily accessed by police and fire protection.  

So that summarizes the special exemption 

of the new criteria.  So now we'll transition into the 

preliminary site plan.  Again, for the same site, this 

is SPR 22-12 preliminary site plan for the proposed 

Taco Bell drive-thru facility, also known as 450 East 

Walton.  

So again, we kind of went over this 

information, its location, its zoning.  We did -- the 

applicant did provide renderings and site plans that 

are included in the packet and on the screen, so you 

can see the site is landscaped towards the top of the 

screen.  That would be the Walton frontage and toward 

the bottom of the screen will be abutting the ball 

fields which are privately held.  

They do provide adequate parking in the 

this preliminary plan.  The landscape is provided and 
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there is a proposed shared driveway which you can see 

to the -- between the trees to the north, that would be 

northwest.  They will be sharing that driveway with the 

Dollar General.  They'll have to provide shared access 

(inaudible) at the end of this process.  

Again, more renderings or concepts of the 

site plan.  The red rectangle indicates the proposed 

Taco Bell facility and the blue square shows where that 

Dollar General that was approved, if it's going to be 

located in comparison to where the drive-thru facility 

will be located.  

Again, the same east and westbound photos 

that you saw before.  So, for a site plan approval, 

there are these criteria as well:  Circulation, 

building, natural features, a site layout and 

screening, and then ultimately the application would 

have to comply with all site plan criteria for 

approval.  At this time, these are less a priority 

because this is a preliminary site plan, but when we do 

review the final site plan, whether we do it 

administratively or we bring it back forward, that's 

when we will take a deeper dive into these standards 

for site plan approval.  

So comment I just mentioned, the 

conditions for final site plan approval, if the 
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Planning Commission does vote to approve this, it would 

be the following:  The Planning Commission must 

conditionally approve the preliminary site plan and 

special exemption permit together in two motions in the 

same session.  As mentioned, a proposed lot split must 

be completed and an address must be assigned to that 

new parcel.  They must resubmit their site plan for a 

formal technical review based on comments that come 

from this meeting, the preliminary report (inaudible) 

the fire department, the Department of Public Works and 

engineering and the Planning Commission.  And then 

finally at the end, they would acquire either 

administratively or from the Planning Commission a 

final site plan approval.  

And that concludes the preliminary and 

special exemption for the (inaudible).  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Is the applicant 

here?  Please state your name and address for the 

record.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Good evening.  I'm 

Greg Lautzenheiser with L + A Architects, here to 

represent Great Lakes Taco for this proposed Taco Bell 

location.  My address is 441 South Livernois, Rochester 

Hills.  Thank you, Mr. Smith, for the nice 

presentation.  I brought some boards, but I think 
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everything in your packet, I think everything has been 

presented.  Pretty much tells the story of what we're 

proposing to do here.  This is going to be the new 

image, look for the Taco Bell.  I've got a rendering I 

can share with everybody real quick.  

The building material is a cement type of 

board, Hardie board type of (inaudible).  This one is 

through Nichiha because hardie board is no longer 

available.  The tower is a metal panel tower, all very 

durable materials, all representing Taco Bell's latest 

standard.  So we're here tonight to answer any 

questions you might have.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  Because 

this is a public hearing, I'm going to open it to the 

public.  Do you have any comments from the audience?  

Please keep any comments to about two minutes and then 

once we get our comments, we'll answer them at the end.  

And if you have any questions, we'll answer them on at 

the end and they will go the (inaudible).  

So I'll open the public hearing if anyone 

would like to talk or ask any questions, please push 

forward.  

I'm going to close public comments.  

Commissioner Duvall, do you have any comments or 

questions?  
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COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I do not.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

McGuinness, do you have any comments or questions?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I love Taco 

Bell.  And I know that many residents of Pontiac, that 

work in Pontiac and just passing through on Walton 

Boulevard, obviously we have a location on Opdyke and 

in Waterford Township neighboring on Telegraph, but 

this is, I think, enough of a distance that it will 

thrive just as well.  JC Park will be bumped in with 

not only baseball and recreation, but also Mexi Melts.  

I don't even know if they have Mexi Melts anymore, but 

thank you very much for considering Pontiac, Michigan 

for your work and your investment.  

I think that as the staff has reviewed, I 

think that it is very compatible with that corridor.  I 

think that work has been satisfied to ensure that it is 

not a burden nor a hindrance in terms of traffic flow, 

in terms of headlight glare.  I'm looking here in terms 

of where the position is of various foliage to ensure 

that that is not an undue burden on surrounding -- 

those passing by, but also those that live or work 

nearby or that recreate with the nearby park.  

So, do you want to share anything in terms 

of the motivation or a market analysis that prompted 
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you to want to choose this site?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  That's really what our 

client is involved with.  We're the architects with the 

projects for them.  Over the past couple years, we've 

done probably four to six Taco Bells in this whole 

Mid-Michigan area and they seek out areas where they're 

compatible, that they're a good fit and then we get the 

call and start the process.  So they're real pleased.  

They looked at this process, this project rather, the 

location was very feasible and a real good fit for 

them.  So that's how we end up here.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Thank you.  For 

the Commission's benefit, we did announce at the 

Pontiac City Council meeting last the contents of the 

Planning Commission agenda, including this proposal.  

They're sort of elements that will be before us, but 

also the public hearing was an opportunity as well.  So 

that was amplified so that way residents and members of 

the Pontiac community could take advantage of this 

public hearing opportunity if they so chose.  And I 

also ensured as does the planning staff that all 

council members are received an update on all the 

elements for the agenda materials and to that, I thank 

you.  

To staff, I have no further questions and 
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I am receptive to favorable outcomes on both the 

special exemption permit and the preliminary site plan 

review.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Is there a question, 

Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  No, I have no 

questions at this time.  It's just to say thank you, 

welcome to Pontiac.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Shepard, 

do you have any comments or questions?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yeah, not, not too 

many.  Hours of operation?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  This will not be 24-7.  

I believe it's going to be -- they keep changing with 

COVID and everything else, so this will be probably 

lunch through 10 p.m., I think is going to be the 

hours.  Have about 10 to 12 employees at maximum.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  So it's not a late, 

like, 2 or 3 in the morning?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Not at this time.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I don't know if 

that's good or bad.  I don't think there's a lot of 

neighbors right there, so I don't think that's a 

problem.  And your materials are kind of just standard, 
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that's what Taco Bell -- that's -- 

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Correct.  This is 

their new prototypical facility with the standard 

building material with the cement board, very durable, 

very, very colorful.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  And I don't know if 

I'm seeing and not quite understanding on the map here, 

but there's an access from Walton too?  I'm missing 

something.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  The access is a shared 

access right here.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  It's actually -- that was 

the point I'd like to make, a question of the applicant 

regards to with that cross access between the Dollar 

General and the Taco Bell, is there going -- we need to 

have probably a cross access agreement.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  There will be cross 

access agreements in place, yes.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Okay.  We would probably 

need to have a copy of that once completed.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Correct.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  And Joslyn is where 

on this map?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  To the east.  

MR. SMITH:  Joslyn would be to the right.  
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So immediately adjacent is the Bostick car lot and then 

the -- 

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Oh, that's the car 

lot.  I was looking at the other Bostick, okay.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Yep.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  It's a great 

location.  Obviously you guys know that.  You've got 

the McDonalds right there so -- 

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  I'm sorry?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I think it's a 

great location so -- 

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  We do too.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I think it's great.  

Materials are always a concern to us.  I mean, you 

don't get much say in that, but it looks good from what 

you're showing.  So -- and that's a different property, 

so I'm not going to ask about the cell tower.  That's 

all I have.  Good luck.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Thank you.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Good evening and 

welcome.  You have -- the name of the company is Great 

Lakes Taco, so are there other Taco Bells in Pontiac at 

this point or in the vicinity?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  You know, they've got 

about 27 Taco Bell restaurants and I'm not sure of all 
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their locations to be honest with you.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Just more of a 

curiosity.  And then a question for Donovan, I was a 

little bit confused too -- and also when I drove out by 

the site today, there's dirt that's being moved.  So is 

that dirt that's being moved for the Dollar General or 

is it for this?  

MR. SMITH:  I do believe the Dollar 

General did pull their permits.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  

MR. SMITH:  They're either doing site 

work, prep work or they started construction.  That is 

most likely, yes, related to the Dollar General.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yeah.  I believe that 

also there's been quite a bit of work in regards to the 

electrical lines from DTE to Dollar General has been 

finally figured out in regards to how that will work to 

get electricity to that parcel.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  And then so 

this Taco Bell is to the east of the Dollar General; 

correct?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Correct.  

MR. SMITH:  Correct, so --

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  And there's no access 

to the Dollar General from the park, is there? 
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MR. SMITH:  From the Dollar -- no.  The 

Dollar General's primary access, so this is the shared 

drive.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  

MR. SMITH:  And then you can see this is 

the approach right here.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yep.  

MR. SMITH:  So a guest can come in and go 

this way to the Dollar Store from here or they can come 

in to go this way to the Taco Bell.  So there's just 

this one drive that provides access to both sites.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  So will they need a D 

(inaudible)?  

MR. SMITH:  They may and that would be 

engineering when they do their formal submissions at 

engineering, the engineer will clarify if that's 

something they need.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  So does Dollar 

General sit behind the red rectangle?  

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Right.  Those are all 

my questions, thank you.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  I do not have any 

questions.  I think it's a great project.  I don't have 
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any issues with it at all.  May I have a motion?  We're 

going to have to do two separate motions, one for the 

special exemption permit which is SEP 22-04, and then 

one for the preliminary site plan review which is SPR 

22-12.  And the preliminary site plan review is written 

as to allow the Planning Division to do the final site 

plan approval.

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  I will make the 

motion for SEP 22-04.  I make a motion to approve SEP 

22-04, special exception permit for a drive-thru 

restaurant use at parcel identification number 

641416126009 contingent on final site plan review 

approval.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I second.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Parlove -- 

I'm sorry, Commissioner Duvall?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to 
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approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Chair Fegley?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Motion passes 6-0.  

AYES:  Parlove, Duvall, McGuinness, 

Northcross, Shepard, Fegley.  

NAYS:  (None.)

ABSTAIN:  (None.)

MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Great.  Now I'd like 

to make a motion for SPR 22 -- I make a motion to 

approve the Preliminary Site Plan SPR 22-12 from 

Greg -- Lautzenheiser?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Correct.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Thank you.  Parcel 

identification number 64-14-16-126-009, planning 

division authorization to grant final site plan 

approval.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  I second.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall?  
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COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross? 

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And Chair Fegley?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Motion passes 6-0.  

AYES:  Fegley, Duvall, Northcross, 

Shepard, McGuinness, Parlove.  

NAYS:  (None.)

ABSTAIN:  (None.)

MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Congratulations.  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Thank you very much.  

We hope -- the question not asked is when will we be 

open?  Hopefully by this fall we'll be here for sure.  

Thank you very much.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Next on the agenda is 

SEP 22-05 Special Exemption Permit and the SPR 22-10, 

Preliminary Site Plan Review.  We will also have a 
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public hearing for this project.  

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Chairwoman.  All 

right.  Back again, we have SPR 22-10 and SEP 22-05, 

special exemption permit.  This is for a proposed, what 

the ordinance calls an automotive service commercial 

use.  This is from the applicant Ali Ajami for the 

proposed Joslyn Touchless Car Wash.  It's a C-1 local 

business parcel and again, this is a preliminary site 

plan and special exemption permit for a car wash, the 

automotive commercial use -- automotive service 

commercial use.  

We will do this in a similar process where 

we will review the special exemption and those 

requirements and then we will transition into the site 

plan review and then allow the public hearing to take 

place after.  

So for reference, the property is located 

at the northwest corner of Joslyn and Second Avenue.  

Just to the south it would be Beverly and the GM sites 

to the south of the stamping plant.  And then to the 

north, several blocks north would be Walton Boulevard.  

So this site is situated between Walton and East 

Beverly.  

On the northbound photo, so this will be 

heading north on Joslyn, the property will then be 
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located on your left on the corner.  You can see the 

vacant site.  You can kind of see where people kind of 

park on it or drive on it.  You can see where the grass 

is kind of faded and tearing right away.  And you can 

see the barber shop that is the adjacent property and 

that's just a little further north.  So that barber 

shop is right to your absolute -- this car is actually 

this car, so heading southbound, again you can see that 

vacant lot located on the corner property.  

According to our zoning ordinance, the 

parcel is zoned a C-1 local business.  It actually 

stretches from Second Street up to Third Street, all 

those parcels are all zoned C-1 local business, which 

caters to housing, smaller units, but also the need for 

commercial uses on -- that cater and support the 

immediate surrounding residential development and 

(inaudible).  

So as mentioned, there are specific use 

criteria for certain uses, the automotive service 

commercial is one of those uses and there are four 

criteria that must be complied with before a use is 

eligible.  One, the set back of any building shall not 

be less than 20 feet at a side or rear lot adjacent to 

a residentially zoned property.  The site does comply 

with that criteria.  All operations must take place 
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within an enclosed building.  It would be inside the 

two bays, service bays, so this is a C-1 specific 

criteria where you cannot have more than three bays.  

The plan calls for two, so it does comply with that 

criteria.  

And lastly, screening adjacent to 

residential uses.  Because this is a preliminary site 

plan and special exemption, the applicant did not 

provide the full landscaping details.  So if this is 

approved, then this would be the requirement that they 

would have to implement which would be providing a type 

B buffer adjacent to those residential uses.  So that 

would be to be determined and would be reviewed in the 

final site plan review.  

So as mentioned before, there are also 

general criteria for the approval of special exemption 

permits.  Those are to be harmonious and in accordance 

with the general principles and objectives of the 

master plan of the city of Pontiac, must be designed, 

constructed, operated and maintained in a way that is 

harmonious and appropriate with the existing and 

intended character of the area.  The proposed element 

is not to change the essential character of the area in 

a way that is proposed and not adversely affect the 

development or redevelopment of the surrounding 
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neighborhood.  The proposed development is not 

hazardous or disturbing to the existing or future uses 

in the same general vicinity and will be a substantial 

improvement to the property.  

Last three here, the site can be 

adequately and by -- sorry, site can be served 

adequately by essential public facilities and services.  

The site does not involve uses, activities, processes, 

materials and equipment or conditions of operation that 

will be detrimental to any person, property or the 

general welfare such as excessive noise, traffic, 

smoke, fumes, glares and odors.  And lastly, proposed 

site will maintain all structures and equipment or 

materials in a readily accessible manner for the police 

and fire protection.  

So that completes the review of the 

special exemption permit.  We will now transition to 

the preliminary site plan review for the same site, the 

Joslyn Touchless Car Wash.  

So again, you see the location, Second 

Avenue and Joslyn.  Again, you have the street views 

north and south.  As mentioned, the parcel is zoned C-1 

in the C-1 District, automotive services uses all 

commercial, so that's how we arrived to this point.  

And in your packets, the applicant did 
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provide the site plan or preliminary site plan.  You 

can see -- so for reference, this will be the Second 

Ave to the south, and then heading north and south 

would be Joslyn Avenue where the guest would actually 

enter from Joslyn.  They will be able to stack between 

the two bays.  There is an exit lane here along Second 

Ave which would have to receive a right turn only -- 

that would be a left turn only.  It wouldn't be 

encouraged on the right and to the residential.  They 

would have to turn left towards Joslyn.  And those 

vehicles that continue through the bays would then also 

make a left and exit back onto Joslyn.  

And then there is some landscaping 

provided in the site plan package that was submitted 

and it's also here on the screen.  So there's 

landscaping here to the south along this property line, 

and upon deeper review into the ordinance there will 

likely be landscaping required between the property and 

the residential to the left.  

Elevations were provided and are in your 

packet.  They're proposing standard brick materials on 

the facades and additional glass.  And as mentioned in 

the previous review, there are standards for site plan 

approval.  This is a preliminary site plan, so at the 

moment these are less of a priority, but these would 
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also continue to be the requirements for final site 

plan approval, in addition to the items highlighted in 

your packet for technical review.  So we'll be looking 

at circulation of buildings, the natural features, site 

layout and screening, and the overall requirements for 

site plan review.  

And finally, there are conditions for 

final site plan review.  These are as follows:  The 

Planning Commission conditionally approves the 

preliminary site plan SPR 22-10 and special exemption 

SEP 22-05.  The applicant must resubmit site plan for 

technical review based on the comments identified in 

the water and fire department, Department of Public 

Works and Engineering, the planning technical report 

and preliminary site plan review and the comments from 

the Planning Commission.  The Planning Commission 

grants staff plan decision to approve the on-site site 

plan or the commission can grant final site plan 

approval.  And then finally, there are additional 

criteria related to landscaping that would be expected 

to be included in that final site plan.  They would be 

required to meet those requirements before they can 

acquire final site plan approval.  

And that completes the review for the 

special exemption and site plan, preliminary site plan 
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review for the proposed Joslyn Touchless Car Wash.  

Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  Is the 

applicant here this evening?  Please state your name 

and address for the record.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  My name is Nasser Choucair 

from NC Design and Contracting and my address, 3241 

South Telegraph, Dearborn 48124.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Do you have anything 

else that you'd like to add to Donovan's presentation?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Thank you for the 

(inaudible).  I mean, we're here for any questions.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  This is a 

public hearing, so I'm going to open it and see if 

anyone has any comments that they would like to make.  

MR. CARRINGTON:  Good afternoon, your 

honorable body.  So a couple of comments.  I'm not 

saying I support or I'm against it.  I'm definitely 

concerned about -- 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Can you give your name 

and address?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  I'm sorry.  William 

Carrington, 185 Carr Street, Pontiac, Michigan.  And I 

believe this is in between District 6 and District 5, 

if I'm not mistaken.  
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So I do have a couple of questions and 

it's concerning Mr. Donovan mentioned that that 

landscaping would be provided that separate the homes 

from this particular facility.  But don't you think 

it's more beneficial with some kind of wall and barrier 

to be in that particular location instead of just 

landscaping?  

My second concern is the increased traffic 

that's coming onto Joslyn.  And I know it's been a lot 

of complaining about Joslyn as well as one of the other 

roads in the district concerning traffic getting backed 

up.  So have you guys taken into consideration that as 

well?  Those are my two concerns.  Thank you.  

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Chair, if I may 

answer those questions?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Proceed.  

MR. SMITH:  The ordinance requires what is 

called a type B buffer and within that type of buffer 

you have two options:  There is a masonry wall option 

where you can have the wall with less trees or you can 

have the no-wall option which is no wall and more 

trees, more landscaping.  The ordinance doesn't say you 

have to do this one or that one.  It kind of gives the 

developers that option to choose which one fits based 

on spacing and those kinds of things.  So there is a 
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requirement for screening.  The exact type, whether 

it's a masonry wall or a more wooded landscaping, that 

is yet to be determined.  

As it relates to the question about 

traffic, a traffic study was not completed prior to his 

use coming before the -- if that is something the 

Commission would like to see for a final approval, that 

can be requested.  The ordinance does allow the 

Planning Commission to request that information as a 

condition for their (inaudible).  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Do you know whether 

or not your plan is to go with the landscaping or 

masonry wall as a residential buffer?  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  I mean, we can go both 

ways.  I mean, that's not an issue.  If they feel more 

safe to put the wall, we go ahead and put the wall.  

And but in term of if it's a tree or a wall, it's the 

same.  It's going to cost us the same, so we can go 

either way, whatever they choose.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  To the Chair, if I may add, 

the screening requirement is 8 feet with the wall or 

without the wall.  So the width of that buffer is 

always going to be 8 feet.  It's just 8 feet with the 

wall or 8 feet with the lot of landscaping.  
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MR. GUSTAFSSON:  8 foot width.  

MR. SMITH:  Correct, 8 feet width.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And the wall would be a 

requirement of 6 foot; correct?

MR. SMITH:  Don't quote me on the exact 

height, but I believe it is 6 feet.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  Yeah.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Are there any other 

public comments?  I am going to close the public 

comments.  (Inaudible).  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I do.  I'm just of 

the mindset that we welcome opportunities in Pontiac 

for business owners and for job creation and I probably 

should have asked this of the other Taco Bell person, 

but I would like to know if you're hiring people from 

Pontiac or are you bringing other people from other 

areas for these jobs?  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  Yeah, we'll be hiring 

within the city.  So just to give you some context, we 

are -- actually own the gas station right next door, 

the Sunoco gas station on Joslyn and Second, so we'd be 

(inaudible) these businesses together.  This is part of 

my -- our motto that we're running.  Usually the powers 

would be on-site.  This is -- happens to be a little -- 
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but off-site being across the street, but we'd be 

advertising and you'd be able to purchase a wash 

through the gas station, whether at the pump, whether 

in the store along with being able to purchase a wash 

just from the pay station at the car wash.  

So yes, it would be -- it's an unmanned 

wash, so it's fully automatic, drive and wash.  It does 

all the washing activities within the building.  You're 

going to drive it, the drying activities happen within 

the building.  But we would be hiring from within the 

city for general maintenance and whatnot.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  And what type of 

security or surveillance equipment will be at this 

location?  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  So I install camera systems 

inside the bay and outside the bay and inside the 

mechanical (inaudible) as well.  So the entire property 

will be under surveillance.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  And how would you, I 

guess, acknowledge or have any opportunities to address 

any issues if there was negligence or -- 

MR. CHOUCAIR:  So being that the gas 

station's on-site, we'd have personnel to deal with any 

issues that may arise.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Okay.  
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MR. CHOUCAIR:  Our station is 24-7 and 

we're always, always -- 

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yeah, I was just 

wondering about the response time if something went 

wrong.  

MR. AJAMI:  Yeah, I'm alerted too -- so 

with the specific system and the surveillance, but the 

gas station would have access to the surveillance 

system and the car wash, so it's been being 

monitored.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Could you state your 

name -- 

MR. AJAMI:  Sorry, Ali Ajami.  I'm the  

applicant, address is 6837 Chase Road, Dearborn, 

Michigan.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I have no further 

questions.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  

Commissioner McGuinness, (inaudible)?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Thank you very 

much for choosing Pontiac, Michigan again for further 

investment and considered expansion.  Are there other 

touchless car washes that you operate in Metropolitan 

Detroit?  
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MR. AJAMI:  I do have one in Brownstone 

and working on one in Warren.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  And I saw in the 

materials that Racer Trust, the entity that was created 

once General Motors went through their bankruptcy 

restructuring had owned the property.  Have you 

completed the transaction or is it conditional based 

upon some restoration from the city of Pontiac?  

MR. AJAMI:  So it's contingent on city 

approvals, but more so some environmental data because 

a lot of -- both Racer's is titled into a settlement 

agreement with the EPA and other government agencies.  

We have to adhere to certain environmental factors.  So 

we're still working through that and it's also 

contingent on this approval as well.  So the 

transaction has not been completed yet.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Understanding 

that there are always known and unknown obstacles that 

may arise, especially with complex transactions that 

may involve the United States Environmental Protection 

Agency signing off on Racer Trust decisions, in your 

ideal timeline when would you anticipate wanting to be 

complete and fully operational?  

MR. AJAMI:  Before the end of the year.  

I'd say start construction about 3, 3 months.  There's 

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

37

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



not much environmental work to do assuming everything 

looks good, so it's a matter of just going through all 

this process and as soon as we get permits, we start 

building.  So start in 3 months, complete in 3 months 

to 6 months.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Obviously, your 

decision to locate a touchless car wash in Pontiac is 

influenced by the Sunoco gas station which you have an 

interest.  Can you speak to the motivation or thought 

process that led you to choose Pontiac as a location in 

the community where you wanted to invest and any 

analysis or studies that led to the Joslyn Avenue 

property?  

MR. AJAMI:  So we've been in Pontiac for 

30 years.  We've had a few other gas station locations.  

My father started it and I've been -- kind OF took 

over.  So we know the area well.  Pontiac's been very 

good to us.  They're a good customer base and we've 

always tried to reciprocate and feel like we have a 

good -- some good knowledge about the area and what 

businesses (inaudible).

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  My biggest 

concern is the proximity of the residential property 

and what it might mean for them depending on, for 

example, headlight glare.  We talked about that with 
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the previous consideration with Taco Bell and how their 

site plan requirements contend with that.  What are the 

anticipated hours of operation?  I know that it's 

automatic, if you will, with -- are there hours, 

defined hours of operation?  

MR. AJAMI:  So it will run 24-7 as does 

the gas station.  Those would be the desired hours of 

operation.

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I think -- 

MR. AJAMI:  Sorry.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  No problem.  I 

was just going to say thank you for that information, 

so please provide more.  

MR. AJAMI:  Well, to reduce some of those 

issues about glare and headlights crossing over into 

the residential areas, we have a retaining wall, a 

masonry retaining wall on the gas station.  The 

(inaudible) going to do the same thing to prevent any 

issues.  Since we've been operating, I don't feel like 

there's been any complaints.  I think that retaining 

wall is sufficient and I'd do the same thing for the 

car wash.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Thank you for 

that information.  Is there any steps that we need to 

take to empower or explicitly codify that?  I -- you 
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were sharing that based upon the designation of the 

property that there are some limitations on what we can 

mandate or require.  Would it be essentially the 

developer, the private property owner's choice in terms 

of if they would do a wall, a barrier?  

MR. SMITH:  Through the Chair, it would be 

their choice if they would like to do the wall or the 

landscape barrier.  I would leave that to Vern if the 

Commission can't dictate at this point if they should 

do one or the other.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  As a suggestion, the 

Planning Commission as part of your special exception 

permit does allow the Commission to add certain 

conditions to a site and that wall requirement could be 

one of those conditions.  

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Vern.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Is the wall 

requirement a type A or type B?  

MR. SMITH:  They are both type B, type B 

with wall or type B without wall.  To answer that 

question, Commissioner, would be you can tack that 

requirement onto the motion for the special exemption 

permit.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Right.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Understood.  And 
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thank you for that and I really appreciate your 

receptivity to that because I think it's really going 

to save you stress in the long term if the -- your 

nearby residential neighbors don't have to contend with 

somebody coming in and the headlights sweeping through.  

I haven't done a thorough analysis on where their 

windows are, etcetera, but we all know what that could 

mean for us in terms of disturbing our slumber, 

etcetera.  So I think that would be well advised for 

this property.  And at this point, that concludes my 

questions.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

Northcross, anything?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Nothing.  Just 

welcome to Pontiac.  I think it is a good project.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Shepard, 

do you have any comments?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Brief.  I think we 

all agree it's got to be shielded.  There's got to be a 

berm or a wall.  I think that we're all going to ask 

you for materials for that, so the neighbors' also 

looking at something that's nice.  And if it's -- I 

don't know if it's able to be a berm that's that high, 

but if it softens it and you can do trees and a berm, 

that might be worth looking at also.  If the neighbor 
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was here, that would be great.  And materials, that's 

what we're going to look at when you come back.  We 

want to see something that looks nice.  That's what 

we're going to be the pickiest about, shield from the 

neighbors, give us something with nice materials, step 

it up.  I think we're all going to be on that same 

page.  Love it, I think it's great, but just please 

bring us back something like that.  

MR. AJAMI:  Absolutely.  Look, I'm all 

about a site's functionality and the site's image.  

When I say functionality, that's (inaudible), so making 

sure everybody around us is happy as well as us and the 

city.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  And then you bring 

a picture of your other ones that are done.  I think 

that would help us to understand it on the next review. 

MR. AJAMI:  But yeah, screen the 

neighbors.  I think Mr. (inaudible) brought that up 

that that may be best.  You already know you have to do 

that.  Just make it look nice, I think that's what we 

care about.  Thank you.  

MR. AJAMI:  No problem.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Parlove, 

do you have (inaudible)?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Thanks.  I do have a 
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couple of comments and a couple of questions.  I 

thank you for bringing this to us as a possibility.  

It was interesting because when I looked over at the 

Sunoco today, I thought well, that would make perfect 

sense if the Sunoco owners were to put a car wash 

here.  

The hours of operation, I'm sensitive to 

businesses that are behind me because I live right 

against Telegraph and I unfortunately am woken from my 

sleep at many times of the night because of businesses 

that do things when most people are sleeping.  And if I 

had a car wash right behind me that was open 24 hours, 

even if it wasn't manned, I think I would be a little 

bit concerned.  Is it possible to dial those hours back 

a little bit, maybe from like 11 p.m. to 7 a.m. it 

wouldn't be open?  Does it need to be a 24-hour 

business?  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  Given the fact that GM is 

next door, so the gas station -- I'm going based on the 

data that I have from the gas station and we do -- we 

get a good early morning rush.  So that's -- and then 

the other wash that I have in the other city, that runs 

24-7.  I really haven't gotten enough time to see that 

dialing back hours would affect me, I'll be honest with 

you.  It's something I could look into.  I would be a 
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little hesitant in the beginning just to see how the -- 

how it would operate.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  Could you 

maybe be open if the neighbors are expressing some 

concern, could you be open to adjusting if need be?  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  Yeah, I'd be willing to 

look at it.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  Yeah, kind of analyze and 

see where -- if it just doesn't make sense to be open 

for a certain amount of hours and it's causing too much 

problems, I would be willing to evaluate.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  I appreciate 

that.  And then I'll pivot to Donovan and Vern.  My 

question about the wall, B type as we've just 

discussed, B type is either/or, the masonry or the 

landscape, is that what you're saying?  

MR. SMITH:  It's masonry or no masonry.  

Landscaping is required.  Both require trees, just one 

is trees with wall and trees without wall.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  So if you're looking at 

regards to how to clarify it, it would be that you 

would ask for a landscape buffer option B with the 

screen wall as part of a condition; am I correct?
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MR. SMITH:  Correct.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  So the landscape 

buffer with the screen wall which would be not the 

masonry wall?  

MR. SMITH:  Would be -- the motion would 

be for SEP with conditions, type B with wall.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And in our zoning 

ordinance, it does require those walls to be masonry.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  That's what I 

thought.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  That's a given.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  Okay.  All 

right.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, 

gentlemen.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  You're welcome.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Donovan and Vern, do 

you know if there are limits to hours for the special 

exemption in the zoning ordinance?  

MR. SMITH:  Some uses.  So there are 

specific uses that have hour limitations.  This use 

does not have that hour limitation.  The ordinance does 

speak to, I believe, a more general hours of operation 

for, I believe, a category of type of uses.  Off the 

top of my head, I can't speak to exactly what that 

language says.  But during our technical review, we can 
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call out what the ordinance says as it relates to hours 

and he would be required to follow what that is.  So if 

the ordinance says no business between midnight and 6, 

then that's what the ordinance would be and they would 

have to follow that.  If the ordinance does not speak 

to that window, then he would be able to operate how he 

chooses to hourly unless a decision comes down for that 

to be less than.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  We could -- if I may also 

through the Chair, we can also take a look in regards 

to the ordinance, it does relate to certain nuisances 

as relates in our zoning ordinance.  We can also scan 

that and also look to see if there's anything that 

could relate to this.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  So I kind of 

want to understand the car wash a little bit.  If 

someone's driving through, does the door open and then 

they drive in and then the doors shut and then the 

water starts working so that the noise is limited to 

when the doors are closed only, is that how it works?  

Or kind of walk me through.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  Exactly.  So a customer 

pulls in and they pay from the pay station.  The door 

opens up, you pull in, the wash starts while the door's 

shut.  All washing activities happen typically about 
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anywhere from 4 to 5 minute wash, depending on which 

one you purchase.  And then as you exit the wash, your 

vehicle will be drying.  So the door opens up and 

you're drying the vehicle as you're exiting, so the 

dryers are at the very end of the wash.  

MR. AJAMI:  The back door would be 

closed.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  The back door would be 

closed.  The front will be open.  

MR. AJAMI:  So the street would be open, 

that would be accurate.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  So the garage 

door would open.  The water would be moving and making 

noise as the car is driving in and then shut the door 

behind?  

MR. AJAMI:  No, no, the car door is in 

place.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  No, that's correct.  

Because at the beginning of the wash are the 

undercarriage sprayers, so it starts as you're entering 

and then it would close, then you stop and the machine 

maneuvers around.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  So there is a very, a brief 

moment where that actually starts while the door is 
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still open.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  So the noise 

would just be when the doors are opening and the doors 

are closing.  Now are the garage doors going to be on 

any quiet track system or anything or are they just 

going to be regular garage doors, just commercial?  

MR. CHOUCAIR:  No, they're not garage 

doors.  They're a plastic material, so they don't -- 

they hardly make any noise at all as they're opening 

and closing, essentially no noise.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Could you go over 

just a little bit of materials?  When I'm looking at 

elevations, it says limestone and it says brick, but 

the brick looks like a larger scale brick.  Is it going 

to be like a CMU or is it going to be just a larger 

size brick?  

MR. AJAMI:  We have the rendering? 

MR. CHOUCAIR:  There was a rendering on 

the first version of the site plan.  

MR. SMITH:  They were hard to see, so I 

didn't include them in that packet.  But to my memory, 

I believe it does say CMU brick.  The large brick are 

CMU, but then the smaller bricks are a different type.  

I just don't remember that off the top of my head, but 

I do recall seeing CMU bricks, the large.  
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CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  The way our 

motions are written, it is kind of giving Vern and 

Donovan final approval of everything.  I kind of want 

to get a feel from everyone to see if this petitioner 

should come back with -- yes, Vern?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  No, go ahead.  I'll have 

a suggestion.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Well, go ahead.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Okay.  I guess what I 

would do is two things.  I think that public comment 

made some good comments in regards to traffic.  We're 

talking about hours of operation.  We're talking about 

traffic impacts or what the potential might be.  So I 

would ask that as part of your site plan review is to 

deny the preliminary site plan in such a way that 

the -- request the applicant to resubmit the 

preliminary plan for review and approval by the 

Planning Commission.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay. 

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  So let's say that 

again.  So to deny the preliminary site plan review 

subject to resubmission?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Actually, it's the last 

approval on the first page, says "I make a motion to 

deny the preliminary site plan."  
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VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Right.  So just leave 

it at that?  Oh, right in there.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And request the applicant 

to resubmit.  Based upon comments that we have seen and 

heard in part of our minutes.  We'll understand that 

we'll be looking at some traffic information.  We'll be 

working with them discussing hours of operation and 

anything else that the -- that's been discussed 

tonight.  

MR. SMITH:  Madame Chair?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Go for it.  

MR. SMITH:  If I may through the Chair, if 

that is the direction, then they would just come back 

for a final.  They wouldn't necessarily come back for 

another preliminary.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  

MR. SMITH:  It sounds like, Vern, you're 

saying to approve the special exemption, deny the 

preliminary and then they come back for a final, is 

that what I'm hearing?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  That could be, sure.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  So with that, it 

means that we don't necessarily have to put the demand, 

so to speak, or the condition on the special exemption 
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permit.  We can approve the special exemption permit 

and then knowing that the final site plan will come 

before us, then we can do it -- some of our -- allow 

staff to work through that, then we have that 

opportunity when the final site plan comes before the 

Planning Commission for approval, if we need to add 

final conditions.  Is that an accurate or --

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  The type B wall needs 

to be tied to the special exemption.  We need to write 

that into the motion and then hopefully that will be 

part of the final site plan.  And then when you come 

back in, you can kind of show us what you want to do 

and then we can kind of cross off all the T's and dot 

all the I's.  

MR. SMITH:  It would be a requirement.  If 

you allow it to be a condition of the SEP today, it 

would then be a requirement of the final site plan.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  If there are 

no other comments or discussion, may I have a motion? 

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  All right.  I'll take 

a stab at this, a stab at the verbiage, correct?  I 

make a motion to approve SEP 22-05 Special Exemption 

Permit for an automotive service commercial car wash 

use at PIN 64-14-16-328-031-032 with the addition of a 

type B wall.  
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MR. SMITH:  Yeah.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Screen wall.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Screen wall, 

contingent on final site plan review approval.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I second that.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And Chair Fegley?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Motion passes.  

AYES:  Fegley, Duvall, Northcross, 

Shepard, McGuinness, Parlove.  

NAYS:  (None.)

ABSTAIN:  (None.)
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MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

MR. SMITH:  If I may through the Chair? 

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes?  

MR. SMITH:  For the next motion, it would 

be -- you would add the language to also resubmit for 

final site plan approval.  So you will be denying the 

preliminary today and adding to the motion for them to 

bring it back to the Planning Commission for final site 

plan approval.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Madam Chair, I 

have a motion.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes, go ahead. 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I make a motion 

to deny the preliminary site plan SPR 22-10 from Ali 

Ajami, Parcel Identification Number 64-14-16-328-031 

and 032 and request the applicant to submit final site 

plan for review and approval by the Planning 

Commission.  

MR. SMITH:  Correct.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Support, I'll 

support that.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call, please?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to 

approve.  

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

53

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Or should I say 

yes to deny?  Yes to deny with a smile and very 

favorable to the final site plan.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  You're basing -- you're 

approving the motion.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Okay.  

McGuinness votes yes to approve the motion.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross? 

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to approve 

the motion to deny.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall? 

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  What they said.  Yes 

to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Okay.  Commissioner 

Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And Chair Fegley?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Motion passes.

AYES:  Fegley, Duvall, Northcross, 

Shepard, McGuinness, Parlove.  

NAYS:  (None.)
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ABSTAIN:  (None.)

MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Thank you very 

much and we're looking forward to seeing the final site 

plan.  Thank you very much.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Okay.  New business, 

7.1 is SPR 22-14, the Preliminary Site Plan Review. 

MR. SMITH:  This will be -- next item you 

have here is another preliminary site plan.  

Preliminary Site Plan SPR 22-14.  On your screen you 

can also see that it does say CNA 22-06.  We are -- for 

the record, we are not holding a public hearing today.  

The applications are conjoined so you can see they're 

conjoined, but we are not going to a public hearing.  

We did not post it.  We're only discussing the 

preliminary site plan today, and then I'll speak to 

when the zoning map limit will come into play, all 

right?  

So the applicant, B.Y.O.P. Properties 

Cesar Chavez LLC, they are proposing to operate the 

banking parcels 64-14-19-426-013 and -- two parcels.  

I'll get it correct.  There are two adjacent parcels 

for preliminary site plan B.  The parcels are zone C-3 

corridor commercial and R-1 single family.  And this is 

for the proposed medical marihuana grower and 
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processing facility.  

So for your reference, the parcels, two 

parcels are located at the intersection of Kinney Road 

and Cesar Chavez Avenue located at the northeast, 

northeast side of Cesar Chavez and that would be the 

southside of Kinney Road.  

Heading eastbound, so this is actually if 

you are leaving Kinney heading towards Cesar Chavez, 

the property is located (inaudible).  Again, it is 

currently a vacant parcel or vacant parcel and on the 

westbound, the second parcel that's mentioned is 

actually the tree, the wooded area.  So it's a smaller, 

maybe about 30 feet wide, but it's that wooded area is 

the second parcel.  

Again, you can see on the map that the 

parcel is zoned C-3 corridor commercial and what may 

be -- the parcel actually extends further back into 

this yellow, this yellow district you see here is the 

R-1 single family dwelling zoning district.  The parcel 

contains two zoning districts, so at one point one 

parcel had frontage on Cesar Chavez, it was zoned C-3 

and there was a residential parcel immediately adjacent 

to it (inaudible).  Those parcels previously were 

combined unrelated to this specific case, but however, 

both parcels, the underlining zoning still remain.  
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So the parcels immediately fronting Cesar 

Chavez are C-3 and those parcels behind it are 

residential.  So we will kind of get into that a little 

bit here as well.  

The parcels are located inside the Cesar 

Chavez Medical Marihuana Overlay District, which does 

permit growers and processors for medical marihuana by 

right inside the overlay.  So the applicants will not 

need to come back for a special exemption permit.  They 

will have to, however, get a rezoning when the parcels 

are zoned correctly.  So these uses are permitted by 

right in the N-1 District, but not in the C-3.  

So those parcels across the street are 

zoned M-1 or N-2, I believe.  The red parcels are C-3, 

light pink are C-1.  So they will have to change from 

a -- or will require a zoning amendment on C-3 to an 

N-1 or N-2 to permit the proposed grower and processor 

uses.  

Just a point to notice on the map, if you 

look, you can see that inside this red rectangle here, 

there is a portion of that that is actually not blue, 

so that residential land to the rear is not included in 

the medical marihuana overlay.  It was not intended to 

be included in that overlay.  But you can see on the 

site plan, we'll go over it soon, that that residential 
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zone portion will be used exclusively for parking.  

So if you recall a few meetings back when 

we did the school on West Huron, Webster School, in the 

parking across Murphy Avenue, we allowed parking on 

residential land.  The ordinance does allow for you to 

use residential parcels for parking granted you meet 

all of the landscaping and buffer requirements.  So 

that is why this image, the blue is the C-3 that would 

have to be rezoned to allow the uses and that 

residential land that is outside the overlay district 

would be used for parking.  And I'll double back to 

that in the next couple slides.  

It's right here.  So you can see where 

Cesar Chavez is here.  This red parcel indicates the 

equipment of the building that would be located on the 

C-3 parcel that needs to be rezoned, and these parcels 

heading this way are residential.  So they will be used 

in this area zoned residential for parking and the 

frontage belongs to Cesar Chavez for the building which 

would be required to rezoning.  And this map may be 

better to see, you can see this dark gray area are 

their parking spaces and their landscaping, then this 

would be the footprint of that building, okay?  

Again, this is a preliminary site plan, so 

we are discussing the use.  The final site plan 
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approval once they get the necessary licensing from the 

clerk's office, their state licenses, they will then be 

required to resubmit for a final in addition to the 

rezoning and meet these requirements related to 

circulation, fielding, natural features, site, layout 

and screening and the overall requirements for site 

plan review and approval.  

The conditions for final site plan 

approval would be as follows:  One, the Planning 

Commission can conditionally approve the preliminary 

site plan, the site plan complies with the ordinance 

for medical medical marihuana facility uses.  The 

applicants acquires a zoning map commitment from the 

Planning Commission and City Council.  This will be to 

change the zoning from that parcel fronting Cesar 

Chavez and C-3 to the M-1 to permit those uses.  

The applicant must resubmit a site plan 

for technical site plan review and approval based on 

comments from the water and fire department, the City 

of Pontiac Department of Public Works and Engineering, 

the zoning ordinance, technical report and the Planning 

Commission.  And then finally, the Planning Commission 

approve or city staff approve the final site plan.  

And then lastly, I would also include 

the -- they will acquire the licensing from the clerk's 
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office for the medical grow and processor use.  And 

that concludes the preliminary site plan review, 

approved review for the unaddressed parcels.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Is the applicant here 

this evening?  

MR. PUTRUS:  Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Please state your 

name and address for the record.  

MR. PUTRUS:  My name is Omar Putrus, 14204 

Adri Circle, Commerce, Michigan.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Do you have anything 

you'd like to add to Donovan's presentation.  

MR. PUTRUS:  No, I think he did a very 

good job of explaining it.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  Do you 

have a question?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I do.  I'm just a 

little confused as to why we would be doing this 

without any licenses?  What if they're not granted the 

license?  

MR. SMITH:  Through the Chair, if they're 

not granted the license, they just will not be 

permitted to continue the project.  So the preliminary 

is to one, introduce the project to you all and approve 

the use from a preliminary standpoint.  The final, 
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which is what would allow them to start building, they 

would not receive their final until their license is 

approved on the clerk's office.  So the preliminary 

allows them to move forward and the final would be the 

condition that they get all the necessary required 

licensing.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Okay.  That's all I 

have.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

McGuinness, do you have any questions?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Thank you very 

much for considering Pontiac, Michigan for your 

project.  What inspired and motivated pursuing Pontiac 

and this particular location?  

MR. PUTRUS:  So originally when we 

purchased that property there, my business partner and 

I, when I say we, we purchased it to submit for a 

medical medical marihuana dispensary.  We were denied.  

We did not appeal or, you know, kind of pursue it any 

more.  So that's why we decided to -- my business 

partner is still in the industry.  We decided to go 

with this avenue because we want to stay in the 

industry in Oakland County.  I live local, he lives 

local.  Just convenient and it was a good opportunity 

for us so -- 
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COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Cesar Chavez 

Avenue will definitely benefit including in this 

vicinity from enhancements to existing properties and 

then also new construction as well.  Understanding that 

this is preliminary, and I see some vantage point of 

what we would be looking at visually, but what would be 

some additional enhancements that those living nearby 

or those traveling by, that they'd see beyond just the 

structure itself?  Can you share with us what's your 

vision in terms of landscaping and other enhancements 

that would come from the site?  

MR. PUTRUS:  I'm mean, I mean, we do -- I 

don't think our landscaping plan is -- was submitted.  

It was not?  

MR. SMITH:  No, it didn't.  

MR. PUTRUS:  No.  We do plan on adding the 

landscaping, the buffer between the residential area 

and back side.  We spoke about putting a berm there or 

a retaining wall as well with the landscaping.  

Obviously, a nice finish for the elevation of the 

building and the materials.  New construction, we're 

not open the public, so people are not going to be 

randomly coming there unless they work for us during 

that shift, during that time.  So kind of private, not 

too inviting for people to come in and just kind of 
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wonder what we're doing in there.

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And what would 

be the nature of the vehicles or transporters on 

that -- this site would be experiencing?  Are we 

anticipating sprinter vans or larger vans or what would 

be the type of vehicles?  Would there be much 

transporting happening with your facility?  

MR. PUTRUS:  So there will be some 

transporting when materials come in and when the 

finished product is actually delivered out.  I think we 

did propose a drive-in garage out of the back side of 

the building, so the -- it would be private, secure.  

Driver pulls in, garage door closes, they drop off 

their material, they pick it up and they leave, very 

discrete.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  How many 

employees do you anticipate at this site?  

MR. PUTRUS:  Collectively, anywhere from 

about 10 to 25, depending on the time of the process 

going along.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Do you have 

other growing and processing facilities in Michigan or 

other states?  

MR. PUTRUS:  I do not.  My business 

partner does out of state currently.  But I do not 
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operate, we do not operate anything in Michigan.  He 

operates a retail facility, but not a growth just 

yet.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Where is that 

retail facility?  

MR. PUTRUS:  He's in Detroit.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  In Detroit, 

thank you.  To staff, so to confirm, because it is in 

the Cesar Chavez Overlay District, no special exemption 

permit will be required.  And that doesn't make the 

distinction of if the parking lot spills into -- is 

that considered in the overlay district or is that a 

non-overlay district situation?  

MR. SMITH:  The parking lot is located -- 

I'm sorry, through the Chair, the parking lot is 

located outside the overlay district.  So the use 

cannot spill over into the parking lot.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Understood.  So 

the parking facilities do not trigger any concerns in 

terms of non-overlay district versus overlay district?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  No.  

MR. SMITH:  Correct.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And that's a 

delineation that reinforces the operations themselves 

must have them?  
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MR. SMITH:  Yes, it does not trigger 

noncompliance with the overlay district because the 

parking is associated with it.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And I know we'll 

get to it, but that approval of the preliminary site 

plan does still have the applicant submitting for 

review and approval by the Planning Commission -- 

should we call it preliminary or should we call it the 

final?  

MR. SMITH:  Because the -- I apologize.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Go for it.  

MR. SMITH:  Through the Chair, it would be 

to come back to the Planning Commission for final. 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  So rather than 

say for resubmit preliminary site plan, we would want 

to say to submit final site plan for review?  

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And approval by 

the Planning Commission following zoning map amendment 

approval from city council, obtain a City of Pontiac 

medical marihuana license and adhere to all State of 

Michigan and City of Pontiac medical marihuana 

(inaudible).  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  I would also ask as part 

of that motion on the second to the last line, obtain a 
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City of Pontiac medical marihuana grow and processing 

license.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  So between 

marihuana and license at the phrase "grow and process"?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Processing.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Grow and -- 

grower or grow?  

MR. SMITH:  Grower.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Grower and 

processing license, all right.  That makes sense.  You 

may be aware that we have considered other grower and 

processor operations in terms of zoning map amendments 

as a city.  There was a recommendation that this 

Planning Commission made and recently the city council 

of which I am the council president, did decide 

favorably for that zoning map amendment.  But bear in 

mind that each application is unique and different, so 

we will hear and review it expeditiously on the merits 

of the application.  And I look forward to continuing 

to learn more.  

I am the executive director professionally 

of Oakland County's Historical Society which is located 

at 405 Cesar Chavez Avenue.  And it is a priority of 

mine as an active resident of Pontiac, I look forward 

to the day when that corridor is thriving, vibrant, 

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

66

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



beautiful and is enhancing Pontiac residents' lives as 

much as possible, and that means for employment, for 

shopping, for recreation.  It's a very historic 

thoroughfare.  You're on a Native American trail that's 

been used for thousands of years.  It's just a very 

important corridor that is not seeing its maximum 

potential presently and I look forward to the parcel 

that you own being able to thrive alongside all the 

other parcels and nearby residents.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Thank you.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  That concludes 

my questions.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

Northcross, do you have any questions?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes, I do and I 

guess the first comment is thank you for going through 

all of this to get to this point.  I know you've really 

invested a lot to get to this point.  I guess my 

question is more about the growth facility.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  And the issue of 

odor.  I'm not sure if we addressed that or not, but 

odor control and your understanding of that potential 

and the steps that are going to be taken to mitigate 
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possible odor.  Because your on, like, right up against 

a residential facility and it's my understanding that 

these plants, they do go through certain cycles 

where -- 

MR. PUTRUS:  They do.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Where some of 

the chemicals as they go through the growth process 

become more subject to giving off certain types of 

odors.  Just your thoughts on that, controlling that, 

so that we don't have a nuisance by the odor coming 

from the --

MR. PUTRUS:  There is a filtration system 

that's installed throughout the building to take care 

of any smells that do arise during certain parts of the 

plant and finishing of the product.  So those will be 

installed and that does take care of almost all of the 

smell.  It does do a lot.  The smell will be released 

from the ceiling or the -- it will be vented out from 

the ceiling from the filtration system.  So it's not 

blowing directly out of the windows, so to say, or 

causing a big smell during a period of time.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  You did say you 

have some targets on how well the air is purified --

MR. PUTRUS:  Filtered.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  -- filtered to 
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remove the offending chemical?  

MR. PUTRUS:  Yes, yes.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Okay.  And I 

don't know if you have -- I was trying to find if 

there's any targets that are given as to what level of 

filtration has to occur so that the nose, which can 

sometimes be very, very sensitive -- 

MR. PUTRUS:  Sure.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  -- does not 

smell that smell and think of it as something that 

might be objectionable.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Sure.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Any thoughts 

on --

MR. PUTRUS:  I don't.  I just know that 

the filtration system will be installed.  There's a lot 

that goes into it so the product doesn't get tainted, 

exposed to anything that it's not supposed to.  So it's 

a very specific, clean process and procedure throughout 

the whole, the whole building actually, once a human 

even enters the grow area or certain areas of the 

building.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Now we -- I was 

looking at our nuisance ordinance, and they do have an 

environmental portion in there and you just mentioned 
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objectionable odors.  That's, that's kind of wide open 

for that reason and I was just wondering if -- 

MR. SMITH:  If I may, I apologize, through 

the Chair, the medical marihuana facilities ordinance 

that we did pass that gives the zoning requirements, 

regulations for these uses does call out the 

requirements for filters, fully odors.  It requires or 

states that if it does become a nuisance then we can 

make necessary -- or requires certain changes or 

upgrades to reduce that nuisance.  So while yes, the 

municipal code (inaudible), the ordinance does speak to 

nuisance.  It is further supported and reinforced in 

the medical marihuana facilities ordinance that we did 

draft.

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Thank you.  I'll 

look at that again to see if there's any hard 

numbers.  

MR. SMITH:  We can share it with you as 

well so you also have a copy.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  And also through the 

Chair, if I may just -- in addition to what Mr. Smith 

had referenced, I know that our building officials, 

knowing the fact that all of the provisioning center 

has been all finalized and gone through the appeal, so 

we're going to start seeing more site plan reviews 

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

70

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



coming on board with all of us.  I know that our 

building department, building safety, our building 

inspectors and also our building official is getting up 

to speed in regards to certain mechanical, electrical, 

plumbing type of requirements and stuff like that in 

the 7 facilities also.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Excellent, 

excellent.  Yeah, I know you've put a lot of work into 

getting to this point.  I just wanted to make sure 

we're all up to speed on that item, that fatal law that 

has been eliminated.  So thank you again for your 

time.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Thank you.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  And any 

investment in Pontiac.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner, do you 

have any questions?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Sure.  Actually to 

go along with Commissioner Northcross, I have a little 

bit of experience with this world, so -- not the 

smoking part necessarily.  But I understand that 

they're regulated by the state.  These smells aren't 

allowed.  The fact that it could escape is one thing, 

but it's not allowed to.  So these are like surgical 

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

71

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



centers, the insides of these things are immaculate and 

you're not supposed to smell anything on the outside.  

But they're regulated by the state.  If the state comes 

and finds out there's odors, they're much more powerful 

than us, so they have teeth that are going to be bigger 

than ours.  So if that helps you that with idea.  It's 

not an old school type of thing where somebody's 

growing it in their basement and blowing it out the 

window.  They have to be really picky about this.  And 

like you said, they can't let anybody in because it 

will destroy whatever products they have and that's a 

really expensive process.  I assume it's a Class C, is 

that -- 

MR. PUTRUS:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  So it's a Class C, 

so they were brought to -- 

MR. PUTRUS:  1,500 plants.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  And their security 

is going to be -- they have to do that also with the 

state.  So that neighborhood, that little square block 

becomes safer because of this.  And I'm sure they'll 

get the sheriff if somebody needs to follow up on some 

of their stuff, I'm sure fill all that information out.  

I think the biggest thing that we're going to see, you 

probably already heard it, is we want it to look 
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nice.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yeah.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  The use, I think, 

is great.  I know this well enough to know there's not 

people breaking in.  Nobody breaks into these places.  

You can't get into these places.  It's the safest place 

you're ever going to have.  It's easier to break into a 

bank probably.  But we want the materials to be 

beautiful and the landscaping, so make it 

look (inaudible).  

But that's -- I mean, you've heard it 

already.  That's what we're looking for.  The use is 

fine, but if you bring something that doesn't look 

good, that's going to be a hard thing for us to accept.  

So make it look like it's in your neighborhood in 

Commerce because again, like Mr. McGuinness said, that 

corridor has looked pretty rough.  We want it to look 

nice and you know there's going to be a few 

dispensaries in there too now.  So that whole area 

should improve significantly.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Hope to do business with the 

dispensaries on Cesar Chavez as well.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  So good luck with 

it.  Sorry it look so long in the other process.  

MR. PUTRUS:  It's okay.  
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COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Everybody had to 

deal with that one, so -- but thank you.  That's all I 

have.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Parlove, 

(inaudible).  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Just a couple quick 

ones.  Thank you for being here tonight.  You had 

mentioned that you were going to have the opportunity 

to drive into the building?  

MR. PUTRUS:  Yeah, to the back of the 

building.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Because I don't see 

it on the plan here.  Is there something I'm missing?  

MR. PUTRUS:  We -- do you have the 

elevations?  

MR. SMITH:  Your packet should have the 

elevation.  The reason why they're not on the screen is 

the scale makes it difficult to see.  But they are 

included in that packet.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Got you.  That's my 

architects directory here (inaudible) pulled it out.  

Thank you for that.  The other question I have is the 

hours of operation.  

MR. PUTRUS:  The hours of operation, I'll 

be starting at about 7 a.m. and be out of there by -- 
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not late.  I guess it depends on how far along we are 

during the harvest period, but more than likely 6:00, 

5:00 everyone will want to go home for the night.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  So not an all night, 

late night?  

MR. PUTRUS:  It's not an all night thing.  

There will be off-site surveillance watching the 

property while we're not there.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  

MR. PUTRUS:  With our camera system.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  That's all I 

have.  Good, so you can go home and rest up for the 

next day.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Yeah, sleep good.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Right.  Thank you.  

MR. SMITH:  If I may through the Chair?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes.  

MR. SMITH:  The ordinance for the medical 

marihuana facility ordinance does dictate specific 

operating hours.  Off the top of my head, I don't 

recall, but when we approved the ordinance, we did 

specify that it could not be an overnight, all day 

operation.  There's a distinct start and end time.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  I don't have any 

problems with this project.  May I have a motion?  
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COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I'll make a motion.  

I make a motion to approve the Preliminary Site Plan 

SPR 22-14 from B.Y.O.P. Properties Cesar Chavez LLC, 

PIN 64-14-19-426-013.  Request the applicant to 

resubmit preliminary site plan for review and approval 

by the Planning Commission.  Following zoning map 

amendment approval from city council, obtain City of 

Pontiac Medical Marihuana Grower and Processing License 

and adhere to all State of Michigan and City of Pontiac 

Medical Marihuana ordinances and regulation.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  May I change that a 

little bit for them to resubmit the final instead of 

the preliminary site plan?  

MR. SMITH:  Final can specify that you 

would like it to come to me or staff.  You may not want 

it to come back to you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Resubmit final?

MR. SMITH:  Yeah, to the core approval to 

be approved by the Planning Commission.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Which is stated on here. 

MR. SMITH:  It is, okay.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  And I said all of 

that with the exception of what was referenced, request 

the applicant to resubmit final site plan for review 

and approval by the Planning Commission.  
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VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Support.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Roll call?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Duvall?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Vice Chair Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Shepard? 

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yes to approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner Northcross? 

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Commissioner McGuinness? 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Yes to 

approve.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Chair Fegley?  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yes to approve. 

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Motion passes 6-0.  

AYES:  Fegley, Duvall, Northcross, 

Shepard, McGuinness, Parlove.  

NAYS:  (None.)

ABSTAIN:  (None.)

MOTION CARRIES 6-0-0

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  Looking 

forward to it.  

MR. PUTRUS:  Looking forward to it too, 
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thanks.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Staff, let me 

know when it's ready for city council consideration.  

Well, to that point, does that need to have a public 

hearing and Z and A?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  So it would 

still be Planning Commission?  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yeah, we'll -- probably 

in July.  And I have a question on the agenda, but 

we'll get back to that later.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  So next on our agenda 

is 7.2A SPR 22-18, Preliminary Site Plan Review 

presentation for Crown Enterprises.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  That will be me here.  

I'm sorry, I'm just trying to -- okay.  These two 

agenda items are presentation, so no vote tonight.  I 

just want to give you a little background on two 

projects that are coming for you that were pretty 

interesting and excited about.  

The first project is in regards to -- we 

did a -- which you received in your packet here, a 

technical review in regards to Preliminary Site Plan 

Review for Crown Enterprises LLC and also Zenith 

Concrete LLC.  Crown Enterprise owns the property.  
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They're at the end of Bradford.  If you see on the 

aerial, the outlined in red probably does not depict 

the full 10 acres, but it's close enough to give you an 

idea of where that location, that site is.  It's a 

vacant parcel just north of at the end of Bradford 

Street.  

Actually, if you've been familiar with UWM 

and their pedestrian bridge, actually Bradford goes 

underneath that pedestrian bridge.  So they're kind of 

wedged in between UWM's corporate campus and its 

recreational complex.  

And what they're proposing -- let me just 

back up a second.  Their property's zoned by Crown 

Enterprises.  The operator of the concrete batch plant 

that's being proposed is Zenith Concrete LLC.  And we 

have been in conversations with them on a number of 

occasions.  We've had some also preliminary discussions 

amongst internally in regards to our planning and also 

the fire department in regards to accessing this 

parcel, so that has been discussed.  We're looking at 

as we noted here in our review, we're looking at 

Meadowood Drive which would be, it kind of splits off 

of Centerpoint Parkway there just north of South 

Boulevard.  

The parcel itself is roughly about 2 and a 
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half acres, is zoned R-1 and roughly about 7.3 acres is 

zoned M-1 light manufacturing for the proposed use of a 

concrete batch plant.  It would require a zoning map 

amendment to go from R-1 to M-1 and M-1 to M-2 heavy 

manufacturing.  

Also in taking a close look at our zoning 

requirements, a concrete batch plant and taking a look 

at the North American Industrial or Industry 

Classification System, that type of facility would be 

considered a heavy manufacturing, processing, 

fabrication type of use, which would also after the 

zoning or rezoning approval by city council, we'd also 

be looking at a special exemption permit for that 

concrete batch plant.  

The applicant has submitted his 

application for a zoning map amendment with conditions.  

He is -- meaning that he is only specifying a concrete 

ready mix batch plant to be located on that site.  No 

other heavy manufacturing type of uses would be allowed 

on that 10 acres, okay?  So that will be coming before 

you.  

I do want to note that we did go through a 

preliminary review in regards to the site, relatively 

complete site plan.  There's just a number of items 

that need to be clarified and provide further detail.  
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We also are looking at from the drawings that we did 

receive, potentially from what I'm looking at and what 

I'm reading, it would be a height variance of the 

proposed batch plant.  I believe that they're looking 

at 90 feet.  The ordinance in the M-2 district only 

allows for 45 feet.  So having -- they'll have to go 

through that approval for the zoning -- or through the 

zoning board of appeals.  

So what I'd like to just say that, so 

we're asking them to resubmit their preliminary site 

plan approval with the conditions that we've noted to 

complete.  July is what we're targeting in regards to a 

zoning map amendment with conditions to an M-2 heavy 

manufacturing zoning district.  Following that, once 

that is reviewed and a recommendation is given by the 

Commission, as you know, it goes on to city council 

for -- that recommendation goes on to city council for 

their final vote.  We would then bring also the special 

exemption permit for heavy manufacturing and 

fabrication and processing use, meaning a concrete 

batch plant.  

We've also asked and we had discussions 

with them in regards to the overhead lines and 

easements that are on the site, to have conversations 

with ITC and also DTE in regards to running their truck 
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and operation -- not so much their operation, but 

mostly the truck traffic going underneath those lines. 

We've also asked probably -- well, 

probably currently right now, we're looking to get in 

further reviews from the fire department, city 

engineering and definitely Oakland County Water 

Resource Commission.  And also as you know, through 

that area is the Clinton River Trail, that it runs 

right to the south edge of that site, and then you can 

kind of see -- sorry.  

MR. SMITH:  That's me doing that.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Then why did you give me 

this one?  You can see the north spur kind of veering 

off, particularly going up to the north.  And also like 

I said, the Clinton River Trail does -- traverses the 

southern edge of this 10 acre vacant parcel.  So we 

would need to work closely.  We've had some discussions 

with Clinton River -- the Friends of the Clinton River 

Trail, Oakland County Parks and Recreation, some 

internal discussions but nothing has been finalized as 

of yet.  So there is some hurdles here, but it can be 

worked through at the pleasure of the Commission and 

also city council.  

We do have representatives representing 

Crown and also Zeus Concrete, if you have any further 
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questions and I'm sure they could probably do a much 

better job of answering some of your more technical 

questions you have for this facility.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  This seems like there 

are quite a few hurdles that are put in place to help 

kind of keep what we want, where we want it, how we 

want it.  So I kind of would like petitioner to come 

up, state your name and address and kind of open up the 

floor so that Commissioners can ask questions and 

(inaudible).  

DAN ONIFER:  Thank you.  I'm Dan Onifer.  

I'm with Crown Enterprises, the owner of the property 

at 12225 Stephens in Warren, Michigan.  And 

Mr. Gustafsson, you've done a nice job giving the 

highlights of our proposed project and also with me 

tonight is Gary Kelly from -- the parent company is 

Hercules and Hercules was a company that was started by 

our family of companies.  It's related to ownership of 

Crown Enterprises and it was recognized that southeast 

Michigan needed -- it's an opportunity to be a part of 

the development of southeast Michigan.  And we've 

talked about a few projects here tonight and we hope to 

deliver concrete made in Pontiac to these projects.  

Hercules currently has one facility in 

Detroit, another facility in Centerline, and this is 
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all over the past three years.  And we're currently 

under construction on a facility in Ypsilanti and 

concurrent with this proposal is another facility in 

Novi and within the next week we'll have equipment 

delivered to a second location in Detroit.  So it's a, 

it's an initiative that's gotten full support and very 

robust support and it's all brand new, state of the art 

equipment.  And this selection or this site was 

selected for its location and we see this as supporting 

the local projects over the next five, 10, 20 years.  

It's something here for the long term.  

And as Vern said, there's -- this site is 

contiguous to Crown Enterprises' other development that 

you can see mainly to the southeast of this facility.  

You can see the large warehouse and the what we call a 

cross dock extending north from the warehouse.  

The warehouse was built in, I think 

completed in 2006 to support General Motors at the 

time.  And it's currently -- we have another vendor 

that supports Ford Motor Company, so it's still 

automotive related.  And the cross dock is occupied by 

a related company, Central Transport.  And what, what 

provides the synergy with the Hercules or Zeus effort 

is the sharing of a -- there's a truck maintenance 

facility on the existing property, there's fueling on 
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the existing property, so those facilities would be 

used.  And secondly, as it was pointed out, this is -- 

you can see on this aerial that there's currently three 

ingress-egress drives to the east and there is one to 

Bradford, but most of the circulation does go to the 

east to either Meadow or Centerpoint.  

The site itself as you can see on the left 

hand side of the screen, the site plan, has the plant 

and this plant, as I stated, is all state of the art 

equipment, brand new.  And it will be completely 

enclosed in an envelope that will provide all-weather 

protection for the quality of the concrete.  The only 

thing that would be exposed -- the elements that would 

be exposed as it was noted are the cement silos.  

They're 90 feet fall and they're elevated above the 

load lane.  So this puts them to the top of 

approximately 90 feet and they're just cylinders.  

Also to the southwest of the building, you 

can see a rather elaborate -- you can see kind of a 

rectangular -- with the separate basins, that's a truck 

wash out.  We all know that concrete trucks wash out 

and they need a place to do this.  So this is a rather 

elaborate construction that allows the trucks to wash 

out their product at the end of the day and run into a 

series of basins that clarifies the water.  And at the 
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last basin, there's a pump that circulates the water 

back for the wash out.  So it's a kind of a recycled 

system.  And Mr. Kelly can comment more about the other 

equipment that they use and it's all following the 

green initiative.  

To the north of the facility is -- along 

the north border of the property is the aggregate, 

stockpiles and those are fed into the plant via the 

exterior hopper and then conveyers that bleed and 

penetrate the building envelope and are introduced into 

the concrete mix.  

And as Vern mentioned, we have had 

discussions regarding the Clinton Trail and we're 

looking at some alternate paths because as you can see, 

the existing rail along the south property would put 

an -- even without this development, brings it 

contiguous to the central transport cross dock 

facility.  So what we're proposing is a connection to 

the west and then through the property likely to the 

north of this proposed development.  

And we've also talked with the staff about 

a conditional zoning agreement that would limit this -- 

the use of this property to what we're proposing rather 

than any (inaudible) M-2 use.  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Duvall, 
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do you have any questions?  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yeah.  My questions 

are always about employees and how many do you think 

you're going to have?  

GARY KELLY:  Good evening, Gary Kelly, 

12225 Stephens Road, Warren, Michigan.  

I'm excited to tell you about the 

employees because we believe in hiring local.  We only 

employ approximately 35 people at the site.  There will 

be some management folks and also Local 614 Teamsters.  

We'll pay up to $32 an hour for those positions with 

full benefits.  Most of the employees there will be 

concrete truck ready mix drivers or ready mix 

professionals as we call them.  And they'll be driving 

new concrete trucks, front discharge concrete trucks.  

You may have seen some around the road coming up from 

our Titan plant in Centerline.  They have the big 

American flag drum on the truck, if you're familiar 

with those.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  I know those.  

GARY KELLY:  It would be the same type of 

equipment.  A few differences in our equipment, we 

offer air conditioning in our concrete trucks.  That 

sounds like it should be there, but it's not.  We're 

one of the first companies in Michigan to do that.  It 
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enables our employees to work a normal workday all year 

long and not be uncomfortable and have to cut the day 

early because it is such a small cabinet that they're 

in and they have such important job.  

As Dan mentioned, concrete plants are a 

part of almost every community and believe it or not, 

there's a concrete plant about every 30 miles in the 

United States.  It's one of the most widely used 

building materials in the world and it provides a lot 

of opportunities for everyone.  And we look forward to 

expanding our business throughout southeast Michigan 

and maybe further someday.  But our plants are 

approximately 20 miles apart and by kind of 

triangulating those plants, they help each other.  So 

we get into some very large concrete projects with our 

roads and bridges and automotive facilities, waste 

water treatment facilities, things like that.  We're 

just -- one concrete plant can't supply enough product 

to those projects at a certain time.  So concrete 

companies tend to expand to try to help to cover those 

areas.  And that's what we're looking to do here in 

Pontiac and also to be a part of the community and 

again, we do hire local.  We do offer training, so 

it's -- you do not have to be an experienced ready mix 

driver per se.  You do have to have a CDL A or B with 
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air brakes to drive a truck, but you only need to have 

some previous experience of about three months of 

driving experience to be qualified to be trained to 

drive concrete truck.  And we have some great folks to 

help with that training.

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  And also, do you 

have -- have you had any feedback or input from your 

neighbors, potential neighbors in that area?  

MR. LAUTZENHEISER:  Not that I'm aware of.  

Central's happy to have us.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  That's it.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

McGuinness?  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  To staff, is 

there existing batch concrete plants in the city limits 

of Pontiac, Michigan?

MR. SMITH:  Through the Chair, I am not 

aware of any.  I know historically we've had several 

temporary batch plants come about.  There was -- were 

two years where we had batch plants on Kinney, at the 

585 West Kinney, right next to the intersection of 

Cesar Chavez.  Not Kinney -- yeah, West Kinney and 

Cesar Chavez, right?  At the corner heading towards 

that very edge of the city, there were temporary 

concrete batch plants there and then Hercules at one 
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point did operate a temporary batch plant at that site.  

Did you end up going through with that?  

GARY KELLY:  We did not.  

MR. SMITH:  You did not, I apologize.  So 

there's only then the temporary concrete batch plants 

that were on Kinney.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And am I correct 

in understanding that the facilities that are in Auburn 

Hills, Michigan are neighbors to the east -- well, east 

and north, but in this instance to the east and the 

south side of Auburn Avenue.  Is that accurately 

classified as a concrete batch plant to your knowledge 

or to staff's knowledge?  

GARY KELLY:  Yes, you have superior 

materials, Auburn plant and also Van Horn Ready Mix.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  The M-2 heavy 

manufacturing zoning district, be it conditions or not, 

is pretty concerning to me concerning the proximity to 

Murphy Park and the recreational significance, not to 

mention environmental aesthetics that that current area 

offers.  Heavy, whether it was concrete batch plant or 

not, M-2 heavy manufacturing is at least on the surface 

very concerning to me.  90 foot elevations, the -- it's 

just a lot.  And I had an initial vantage point 

extremely disinclined to be receptive to see how the 

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

90

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



negatives do not outweigh the positives, and so I will 

be receptive to more information and I will not dismiss 

things out of hand.  But in terms of various land use 

and planning for the future of the city of Pontiac, I 

am disinclined to see how this in the long term will 

put us in a better position for the residents and how 

we maximize the land.  And I say that in part as the 

city councilperson who represents southeastern Pontiac, 

represents this area and the long term desires to 

elevate recreation and the quality of, of the natural 

amenities.  To me, this is very incongruent with that, 

but I will certainly be receptive to more information 

and further contemplation about what's possible.  

The Crown Enterprises family of companies 

as you put it, how long has it owned this parcel? 

DAN ONIFER:  I believe the initial 

acquisition started in the '70s and it started with 

just the central transport cross dock facility and then 

as additional properties were acquired and lot line 

adjustments, it created the addition for the warehouse.  

But ownership goes back to the '70s.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  That's helpful.  

And does the Crown Enterprises family of companies own 

the land entirely to the north and entirely to the east 

that we are seeing as green or do you own -- 
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MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  -- a sliver or a 

portion of it?  

DAN ONIFER:  Ownership goes to 

approximately where the rail goes to the north.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  The north spur 

that we see?  

DAN ONIFER:  Yes, and then this is the 

western limit of the ownership and Murphy Park to the 

west of this.

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  So your 

neighbors to the immediate west of this subject area 

parcel in question is the city of Pontiac, they own 

that property?  

DAN ONIFER:  Yes, with the exception of 

the rail right of way that extends out to ML King.

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Does the Crown 

Enterprises family of companies own that?  

DAN ONIFER:  Yes.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Okay.  And the 

current use and it could be now but also in the 1970s, 

how has it evolved in terms of these 10 acres?  How has 

it been used over the years, has it been fallow, mainly 

fallow storage?  

DAN ONIFER:  It was never, never formally 
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used.  When we put the addition on the south portion of 

the cross dock, the warehouse edition in 2006, this 

area was included in that design and was proposed at 

the time for trailer parking.  And currently there's 

been some grading for that part of that effort and the 

storm water management pond for the development that 

was completed in 2006 sits at the northeast portion of 

this undeveloped -- otherwise undeveloped property to 

the north.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I understand 

fully how this would be a very strategic operational 

site for your operations and I understand the need.  

I'm just trying to ensure that it's most strategic for 

the city of Pontiac, so I will continue to research and 

learn.  No further questions.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Thank you.  

Well, thank you.  Yes, I can see where this plan is 

needed given all of the concrete that we have 

surrounding the city, leading to the city that needs to 

be rebuilt.  I guess my one question I have is what 

type of dust and other things are we looking at with 

this type of plant?  And also the -- do we have to look 

at increasing the number of times that we wash the 
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roads and stuff to control the dust?  Because I guess 

to the southwest there are a whole bunch of cars where 

United Wholesale Mortgage and just wondering about your 

thoughts on that.  

DAN ONIFER:  Sure.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  What do you 

observe in your other plants?  

DAN ONIFER:  There's really two sources of 

dust.  One would be via these silos which contain 

either the cement powder or the fly ash powder.  That's 

completely self-contained, but it's introduced into the 

mix inside the building.  And at that point where that 

powder is introduced into the mix, there is a dust 

collection system and that dust collection collects -- 

or that system collects the dust pneumatically, brings 

it to another unit that shakes the dust out and then I 

believe that's reintroduced into the product in some 

way.  And the other source of dust would be anything 

that would be associated or could be associated with 

the aggregate storage.  And those facilities, there's 

very large water supply to the facility just to support 

the mix effort, but that's also plumbed to the 

aggregate piles to control dust.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  All right.  You 

spray those to keep that dust down?  

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

94

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



DAN ONIFER:  Yes.  And as I mentioned, the 

facility just to the southwest of the actual building 

is where the truck wash facility is.  There's a, like a 

rinse down arch and then in addition to the capacity to 

rinse the drums out.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  And how many -- 

what type of traffic would we see?  

GARY KELLY:  We would provide a traffic 

study to go along with it, which would show -- 

generally we'd run up to 30 concrete trucks out of this 

facility.  Of those 30 concrete trucks, they may take 

four trips a day each.  So I -- roughly 120 in, 120 

out.  Over a 12 hour day, maybe 10 per hour.  Then 

you'd have some associated aggregate gravel trains that 

would bring in the material and also bulk cement 

tankers that would bring in cementitious materials 

throughout the day, but those are less frequent.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  And all of those 

are running about what type of weight?  

GARY KELLY:  I'd say around -- they carry 

about 50 tons of material per load.  So the total truck 

I believe is around 150,000 pounds.  Per gram, about 

150 pounds total truck.  The mixer trucks loaded are 

about 70,000 pounds.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Has it been your 
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experience that the roads immediately around your 

plants are -- require additional maintenance?  

GARY KELLY:  That's not been our 

experience because we use concrete which is very 

durable.

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Okay.  I was 

thinking the public roads.  

GARY KELLY:  Um-hmm.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  I was thinking 

some of the old steel -- some of the old foundry and 

stamping plants and things.  Used to see a lot of wear 

and tear on the roads from the trucks bringing in the 

big loads of steel.  

GARY KELLY:  Yeah, our trucks, the gravel 

train equipment has multiple axles to distribute the 

weight over all those tires.  I haven't noticed any -- 

and we're only three years old over there too, so I 

shouldn't say that.  May have long term effects.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Again, the 

Clinton River Trail, that really perked me up when that 

was mentioned.  I'm a bicyclist and I was under the 

impression that the north spur which is that one that 

heads up, that was it and that the old Grand Trunk 

Western Railroad, that that had been vacated.  They had 

picked that up for the Clinton River Trail as well?  
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MR. SMITH:  No, the city does not own the 

complete trunk line.  So I believe we have a small 

portion out over in this area.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Correct.  

MR. SMITH:  And the rest of it is picked 

up -- is privately owned.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Yeah.  Actually it's 

owned by Crown Enterprises that extends all the way 

over to MLK Boulevard.  

MR. SMITH:  So believe it's around this 

area all the way through MLK that Crown owns and then 

the city owns this portion and then goes up towards the 

north spur.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Okay, okay.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  For clarification, when 

they come back in regards to for further meetings, 

we'll have a diagram that illustrates.  We've been -- 

again, as they'd indicated, we've been toying around 

with different ideas and concepts as relates to them.  

Alternative routes as relates to Clinton River Trail.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Again, I can 

understand that given the amount of rework we need to 

do on our our roads and other things (inaudible) with 

new construction that is starting to occur in the area.  

Yeah, that would be a very strategic location.  But 
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just (inaudible).  Thank you, thank you, could work 

out.  That ends my question.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Shepard, 

do you have a question?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Yeah, I appreciate 

you guys coming here.  You're very knowledgeable in 

what you're doing.  It's hard for me, right?  This is a 

tough one for me.  I think the traffic is going to be 

an issue, especially if it's coming out, if it's coming 

out to the south there, from that shore and some of the 

other things that are going on.  I think dust is going 

to be an issue, 90 feet.  You have to have all this 

stuff.  It's not have you change it to 50 feet, this is 

what you do.  It's hard for me to get it, right?  I 

think the noise -- I don't know if there's noise, but 

I'm sure there's got to be some noise.  But I think 

everyone else has brought up a lot of these same points 

and I think that's the thing that will make it a little 

bit more difficult for us to get through.  So --

GARY KELLY:  One different thing about our 

concrete operation is it is the newest, latest, 

greatest technology, and that includes all the dust 

suppression equipment, the state of art wash out pits 

which is a very environmentally friendly recycle.  

We're a very green company.  We believe in recycling.  
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We recycle our concrete.  We recycle our aggregate.  We 

recycle our wash water, our cementitious powders.  We 

try to be very environmentally friendly, aesthetically 

pleasing as a neighbor.  

You'll see most concrete plants are out in 

the wide open.  This plant is completely in a building 

envelope to capture the noise, the dust, anything that 

could be created through the manufacturing process.  We 

are different and we are new and it's very easy to 

compare us to some of the existing facilities in the 

state of Michigan and see the difference.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I think we'd have 

to see it.  Like, we have to see one of your other 

facilities to understand -- 

GARY KELLY:  You're welcome to -- 

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I do appreciate the 

sentiment.  And I think you got to figure out some 

other way -- the traffic's going to have to -- it can't 

come down into the South Boulevard probably.  So I 

don't know if you've already maybe answered that 

already or talked about that, but that's a lot of 

trucks.  120 a day plus the big rigs coming through 

there, there's going to be debris, I'm assuming, coming 

out tires.  They've all been at muddy sites, but I 

would love to see one of your other facilities.  If 
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you're coming back on this, I think we'd want to see 

something.  

GARY KELLY:  Yeah, and I should add that 

the facility that we're building in Ypsilanti, 

Ypsilanti Township had the very same concerns that 

we're hearing tonight and they didn't even want to put 

it in front of the Planning Commission until they did 

just that.  And Hercules invited them to their plant 

that was under construction at the time in Centerline 

and that addressed their anxiety.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  Thank you, that's 

all I have.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Parlove?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Thank you, gentlemen, 

for coming tonight to talk about what you'd like to do.  

All I see all over this is square peg, round hole.  

This makes absolutely no sense to me.  And I recalled 

hearing something about concrete batch plant in Detroit 

and there was objection to that.  I don't know if it 

was quite the accurate recall that had, but I knew 

there was something that was talked about in Detroit.  

And I found an article here that says Maroun-owned 

Hercules Concrete storing aggregate within feet of 

Detroit River.  And as we know, there was a collapse of 

a wall along the river into the Detroit River that has 
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created quite an environmental problem.  And I'm 

reading here, it says that Hercules Concrete is a 

company that's owned by the Moroun family.  Is this 

accurate?  

GARY KELLY:  That is accurate, but the 

collapse was nothing to do with us.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  No, I understand 

that.  But I'm reading that you're a Moroun company.  I 

wouldn't -- I've been on the Planning Commission for 

several years now and I've been a Pontiac resident for 

a very long time.  And one of the things that happened 

when we did our last master plan update was to this 

area along South Boulevard has become a focal point for 

growth and new businesses that are not heavy industrial 

M-2 businesses.  Rather, our former mayor referred to 

it as the Diamond Corridor.  And we've had a lot of 

investment, obviously United Wholesale, (inaudible) 

National.  There's been a lot of money put into this 

location and to just have -- how many tons of concrete 

are in the truck per truck?  

GARY KELLY:  Concrete truck fully loaded 

is about 70,000 pounds.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  I don't 

approve of 70,000 pounds of concrete driving up and 

down South Boulevard.  
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GARY KELLY:  And driver's truck's a little 

bit heavier.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  But not as frequent 

as what would be coming out of your plant.  I just 

don't see this as a viable option.  There's a Clinton 

River Trail, there's a park there.  There's all sorts 

of natural amenities that we have in the city that 

we're fighting tooth and nail to keep and this is 

not -- I find this completely incongruent to what is 

there, so I have no support for this whatsoever.  Just 

my opinion.  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Yeah, currently this 

property is R-1, M-1, so we would have to go from those 

lesser usage or less intense properties to an M-2 and 

then on top of that, do the special exemption for what 

you're going to have on that property.  

When I first started on this Planning 

Commission a long, long time ago, we had come in front 

of us the steel recycling that is right before the loop 

(inaudible).  And it was grandfathered in as an M-2, 

M-2 or M-1 and our hands were tied because it was 

already grandfathered in.  They could already do that 

usage, they were just doing a site plan.  We couldn't 

stop them from doing what they wanted to.  And I had to 

sit here for months afterwards hearing residents come 
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and complain about the dust from that steel recycling.  

I don't ever want to be in that position again.  

You have United Shore Mortgage there who 

has a ton of employees.  You have the soccer arenas 

from the United Fields there with the kids are outside 

playing soccer all day.  You have the Murphy Park plus 

the residential.  There's a lot of people in this area.  

It is a densely populated area.  It's not just 

industrial in there.  I'd -- like Mona was saying, like 

Mona was saying, I just don't see this fitting in that 

area.  It's just, it's heavily populated with a lot of 

people.  

And one of the special exemptions is 

because you have non-metallic mineral product 

manufacturing.  This will be manufacturing.  I don't 

see manufacturing going along an office commercial area 

of a regional area with residential.  So that's kind of 

just where I'm at on this project.  I don't know if 

anyone else has any further comments.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  In final comment, I 

wanted to, I wanted to have my commission and the city 

to kind of hear what they're proposing because I think 

collectively I can -- I hear everybody's concern and I 

have some concerns that may be different from yours and 

the same thing with my colleague Donovan Smith.  I just 
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want to propose it out there before we start to get 

involved and at least let the applicant know what 

you're going to expect because we are going to -- 

you're going to public hearings and everything else in 

the future on this project.  You do have your right as 

property owners and -- to go through that process and 

we'll see what happens.  But I'm just -- I wanted to at 

least let this forum kind of create an opportunity for 

that feedback, giving back and forth.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  And I'm not against 

this, I just don't think this is the site or the 

property with everything that's surrounding it for this 

and that's just my personal opinion.  I'm not against 

this being in Pontiac, I'm just against it being around 

that highly populated area.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And I want to 

say I'm grateful that Central Transport and the Crown 

Enterprises family of companies is in Pontiac and it's 

in this area.  I have been back and looked at the 

facilities that you operate.  You are a welcomed 

edition and a long time part of the landscape of the 

Pontiac community.  Through the further questions, I am 

interested to see what an enclosed facility means and 

the practical application of that.  You've mentioned 

other innovations, but there are a great deal of 
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concerns.  And one of my largest concerns is the impact 

on the recreational value of Murphy Park.  And I don't 

necessarily anticipate that there would be much 

immediate operational adversity with the large unit 

wholesale mortgage complex, but I do think that 

depending on traffic that there could be some roadway 

maneuverability that it is worth working through 

further.  

But I did want to say that not only did 

you mention that this has been in the family of 

companies for longer than I've existed on this earth, 

but that your facilities are obviously very successful, 

very long running and are an aesthetic addition.  They 

are a welcome addition, and just a matter of us wanting 

to be the most strategic with planning and land use 

on behalf of the citizens of Pontiac.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you.  Next on 

the agenda is 7.3, Ottawa Towers and Judson Center.  

MR. DINHA:  If you don't mind, as an 

entrepreneur, I want to give him my business card.  I 

have a site in Genesee County for him.

As that's being brought up, what are the 

requirements or expectations with building color, is 

that something that's come before Planning Commission 
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before?

MR. SMITH:  No.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  No.  

MR. DINHA:  Okay.  An entrepreneur never 

rests, you know.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  So here we had the 

opportunity to do two things.  One thing is to -- 

obviously we invited Tarik Dinha.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  For those 

watching at home, they want you to use the 

microphone.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  I'm sorry.  I'm a little 

tired of sitting here.  I just want to give the 

opportunity for the Commission and probably a lot of 

you already know, but this is the new owner of the 

Ottawa Towers and Judson Center there, next to the 

Phoenix Center.  And we're doing some hard work on the 

interiors and leasing and one of the objectives is to 

repaint both buildings.  And I thought -- I saw it as 

an opportunity.  There is nothing that we as a 

commission, we don't need to approve his colors or 

anything.  It's not located in an historic district.  

He's not making any facade improvements, probably 

definitely doing some minor repairs and stuff like 

that, but along with that is painting the building.  
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So I'd like to introduce the applicant and 

the owner.  

MR. DINHA:  Sure.  My name is Tarik Dinha, 

18000 9 Mile Road, Southfield, Michigan.  I'm a long 

time, born and raised Oakland County resident.  I 

started my real estate career investing in Pontiac.  

First house I ever bought was 757 East Pike Street, 

east of Martin Luther King.  Came with an extra lot.  I 

split that lot, teamed up with a couple guys and built 

a brand new home at 23 years old.  

Now I'm standing before you 21 years later 

still actively doing business in your community.  I'm 

a -- I'm very gifted at taking these vintage buildings 

from the '70 and '80s and bringing new life into them.  

These two buildings are my 7th and 8th office towers of 

this vintage.  I currently have a couple million square 

feet of other office buildings, industrial buildings, 

shopping centers.  

I wanted to -- I met with Vern.  I've met 

Tim previously.  I've met with Councilman McGuinness 

previously and I've had the opportunity to meet these 

people and welcoming me back into the community to 

invest here.  I wanted to make sure that I was not in 

an historic district.  I was not in an area that would 

require any approval in order for me to do the drastic 
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color change that we want to do.  I know nobody wakes 

up everyday and says "I love the way that doo-doo brown 

looks on Ottawa Towers," you know.  So our goal is to 

give something that's uplifting, that everyone's going 

to look at and say that looks like 2022, that doesn't 

look like 1984.  

And so what Vern was nice enough that I 

shared with him to upload here is a rendering showing 

that we would be making the field color a gray color 

scheme and that the windows, every window line we'll be 

doing what we call an ombre look.  And every window 

line that goes one shade lighter up the color wheel.  

So if you've ever seen a color fan from Sherwin 

Williams, we basically start on the ground level with 

the darkest color.  Every window line we go up, it 

gives an optical illusion of making the building look 

taller, cleaner, modern, very hip.  You'll see it in 

Miami.  You'll see it in Toronto.  You'll see it 

everywhere except for Pontiac until I get started.  

So I've done all my adhesion tests to make 

sure the paint will stick and we'll get a 10 year 

warranty from Sherwin Williams without any peeling or 

flaking.  And I just wanted to make sure -- I wanted to 

introduce myself to the Planning Commission, let you 

guys know I'm excited to be here investing in the city.  
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Wanted to open it up for discussion or comments to see 

if you guys had any comments or feedback.  Super 

excited about the transformation.  

I did the Mike Morris Building in 

Southfield.  I don't know if you've ever seen that.  It 

looked just like this when I bought it, tired brown, 

very prisonesque looking building.  I had an offer to 

knock it down and put a Walmart there, that's how ugly 

it was.  And if you look at that building today, you 

could never imagine knocking it down.  It looks like a 

landmark.  It looks like it was meant to be there.  And 

it's my objective to do the exact same thing here at 

Ottawa Towers.  

Not my first rodeo.  I'm excited to be 

here and I just wanted to get input from the Commission 

to make sure I'm moving in the direction -- this is a 

long term thing for me.  I plan to be here for many, 

many years.  I just want to make sure I'm moving in a 

direction that makes everybody happy.  And I wanted to 

introduce myself and let them know that I am here.  I 

am the active owner and operator.  I have since in the 

past 12 months since we've got here, I did recently 

purchase all of my other members' interests.  There is 

no more Dearborn Capital in this deal.  There is no 

more Bob Waun in this deal.  I'm standing before you as 
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the guy that's accountable and the owner and the guy 

that has millions of dollars of his own capital, 

including my kids' college fund at stake.  So failure's 

not an option.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you for your 

patience tonight.  I know it's been a long day.  But 

thank you for coming to us with this.  I'll start with 

Commissioner Duvall.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Yeah, what do you 

plan to do with it?  

MR. DINHA:  So we actually were very 

fortunate.  We signed a lease already for a full floor 

and that we'll call it Tower 1 which is the 51111 

Woodward Building.  I have a lease I'm negotiating, 

finalizing right now with Senator Gary Peters' Office 

to bring him in, as well as a non-profit mental health 

clinic that works with -- in tandem with the State of 

Michigan.  Had another showing there today for a tech 

company out of Birmingham.  Small.  So I'm looking to 

attract smaller users to the 7th floor.  We'll be 

multi-tenanted so that we can take the entrepreneur 

that's in their house and give them a spot to conduct 

business as cheap as $4- or $500 a month, a 

professional image with security in a professionally 

ran building.  

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

110

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



My goal is to transform the exterior, fill 

it up, offer below market rental rates and above market 

service.  And I've done this historically, stabilized 

millions of square feet of this.  I've done the Delphi 

Building in Auburn Hills.  That building historically 

had 300,000 feet of vacancy.  I filled that in 14 

months from the time I bought that building.  So I'm 

very good at offering discounted rents and incentives, 

a full turnkey build out package to attract tenants.  

In addition, for Tower 2, we're looking at 

a market rate multi-family conversion and doing that 

work ourselves.  I have four crews of guys that have 

been with me for many, many years and so we 

self-perform all our construction.  I started this year 

with 105,000 square feet of office under construction 

and I'm down to about 30,000.  So constantly equipped 

to handle large build-outs.  When DXE Technologies 

moved out of the United Shore Mortgage Home, I actually 

moved them into my Delphi Building in Auburn Hills.  So 

Pontiac always -- still pays me dividends.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  Parking structure, 

is that also included?  No?  

MR. DINHA:  Yes.  We have a land lease 

from the city of Pontiac on the parking structure.  

We've relamped the south side of the parking structure.  
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When we got there, they had what I call hurricane 

lights with the little plastic basket, little screw-in 

light bulbs.  That was the lighting there.  We've 

redone all that with LED lights.  We've in the past two 

weeks, we fixed in the neighborhood of 12 to 14 drains.  

We're now working on all the drainage in there, getting 

all the drainage addressed.  And we're in the process 

of finalizing our bids to start what's called post 

tension cable repairs which will be about $400,000.  So 

we anticipate investing $700- to $800,000 in the 

Phoenix Center to address the drainage and the 

cleanliness and the overall image this year.  And next 

year it's our plan to start working on the elevators as 

we activate Tower 2.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  So does that include 

the (inaudible)?  

MR. SMITH:  No.  

MR. DINHA:  No.  Our deals not include the 

pavilion.  There was a memorandum of understanding 

executed between former Mayor Waterman and then 

(inaudible) we'll work together to form a non profit 

conservancy agreement to run and operate the Plaza 

Rooftop.  Today I was at the Plaza Rooftop.  On that 

note, I am maintaining it at my expense.  I'm cutting 

the grass three times already this year.  I've 
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purchased $65- or $6,800 worth of equipment to allow my 

guys to perfect that work ourselves.  We haven't 

invoiced the city for that.  

We've been cleaning the drains off the 

roof.  We had an issue last year, the city was 

maintaining it.  The roof drains weren't cleaned.  We 

had a flood in the Tower 2 building, almost a million 

dollars worth of damage that we're still -- it's a 

whole 'nother issue.  I'm not here to bore you guys 

with that.  I'm here to keep everything positive.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I like it.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Go ahead, 

Commissioner McGuinness.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I'm a big fan of 

the color.  I think that what you're proposing would 

definitely be bold.  It would be, I think it would be a 

positive enhancement for the downtown Pontiac skyline.  

This is a building that I can see from my house.  This 

is a building that has a great deal of history and I 

think that I'm very pleased to hear about your track 

record.  Not only starting in Pontiac's District 7 on 

East Pike Street, that's very fun, but in terms of the 

large substantial commercial office spaces throughout 

the region that you've had firsthand in the driver's 

street, helping.  
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I've been in the Mike Morris Building, not 

because I was in trouble but because -- at that time, 

but that when I worked for Congresswoman Brenda 

Lawrence.  Beautiful building.  I didn't realize that 

that was in your roster of past projects.  But I've 

heard from you in the past, some of your other 

Southfield footprint.  This is obviously a very high 

profile and underutilized site and I think that it can 

be a very transformational and very hopefully lucrative 

positive rebound for this facility because it's, it's 

not been utilized to its, even a fraction of its 

capacity to enhance not only downtown Pontiac, but the 

entire city and I look forward to this visual 

enhancement.  What's your time frame for the color 

transformation?  

MR. DINHA:  I'm excited to say that I have 

a contract ready to execute.  We've done our adhesion 

test and we're looking to start in the next week.  They 

should be starting to move all the swing stage 

equipment.  The swing stages are those vertical lifts 

that hang off the building and move up and down, much 

like an elevator, and so they'll do a drop.  A swing 

stage is about a 25 foot run, so they'll actually start 

at the top.  They'll sandblast it.  They'll cut out any 

remaining caulk.  They'll paint it.  They'll caulk it.  
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There's actually a primer and two coats of paint.  And 

then so what happens is a 25 foot section gets 

completely transformed from the top to bottom and then 

they move that swing stage over and start at the top 

and work their way down again.  

So start to finish, it's probably about 5 

months if we get good weather.  We should be able to 

complete it in 5 months.  We hope to be done by fall.  

If not, what we'll do is we'll stop in the fall because 

if the weather gets too cold at night, you won't get 

the proper paint adhesion.  It's my goal to own this 

building for the long haul.  My kids want to sell hot 

dogs on the roof of the Phoenix Center when we bring it 

back to life.  And so I want to make sure that it lasts 

and I can be proud of it.  When I did the Mike Morris 

Building, it was over 12 years ago and if you drive by 

there today, it looks just like it did the day I 

finished it and to me, that's the sign of doing what I 

do.  

I'm a glutton for punishment, I'll tell 

you right now.  I was retired at 40 years old and went 

back to work and I do it for the labor of love.  It's 

not a matter of financial gain.  It's a matter of 

people saying it can't be done and I know, like you 

mentioned, underutilized offices, I see the 
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underutilized buildings and they talk to me.  I 

literally -- I'll sit in the parking lot and talk to 

the buildings and they say "buy me, fix me," and that's 

what I do and I'm happy to do it.  Happy to put my 

energy into buildings.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I got a couple of 

buildings for you.  

MR. DINHA:  I hope they're big landmark 

buildings.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  No, they're not.  My 

house.  

MR. DINHA:  Well, I'd be happy to share 

any resources I can or any experience with you.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Well, thank you 

for bringing it to the Planning Commission in the city 

of Pontiac to do that due diligence, but also to share 

and convey to us what is forthcoming.  And my goodness, 

I mean, the way in which the Phoenix Center complex has 

been symbolic and a literal obstacle to greater 

flourishing of our downtown commercial district, but 

also the entire city, it is a project worthy of that 

dedication and devotion.  And I do think that the 

dividends will be very substantial for the citizens of 

Pontiac and I look forward to seeing the transformation 

and learning more about what is to come.  

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

116

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Thank you very much for your time and to 

echo the Chair's comments, thank you for your patience.  

There's value and benefit though sitting through the 

other proposals.  Might even get some business out of 

it.  

MR. DINHA:  I'll be honest with you, I'm 

happy to see a functioning city government.  It means a 

lot to see the people here that generally care and 

generally committed to the city.  I was a Detroit 

landlord for many years and I saw enough circus acts 

and I purposely for a year made sure that I never 

introduced myself.  I never came out in the public 

light because I never wanted to be -- pardon my 

mouth -- I didn't want to be involved in the circus.  

I'm a guy that likes to fly under the radar.  When I 

was a kid, my dad said don't tell me what you're going 

to do, show me what you've done.  

So if you walked in the first floor of 

Ottawa Towers, you'll see what I've done compared to 

what it used to look like.  If you walked in the 8th 

floor up there, you'll see people up there.  There 

hasn't been people on the 8th floor of that building in 

12 years.  So I'm bringing in Senator Peters' Office, 

many other people again.  Like I said, when I was a 

kid, my dad said don't tell me what you're going to do, 
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show me what you've done.  My track record speaks for 

itself.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  And I will say 

that I think the Pontiac community is hungry to learn 

about those new tenants that you secure.  So don't be 

shy or bashful about communicating that to staff or to 

civic leaders so we can amplify that because that 

momentum begets more momentum.  They'll be like, oh, 

man, something's going on, that's the place to be.  So 

that's what we want for downtown Pontiac, that's what 

we want for all of our commercial corridors, to 

leverage that positive, positive growth and that 

relocation.  

In one of my other day jobs -- I'm the 

Executive Director of Berkeley's Downtown Development 

Authority and it is extremely powerful for us to 

amplify when a new business locates in our downtown.  

So that way, all the other businesses or people that 

are looking to open up for the first time, they're 

like, something's going on there.  I want -- it's 

fertile ground.  And so as much as we can piggyback on 

the hard work that you're doing, that it can benefit 

the ecosystem of downtown Pontiac and the entire city.  

Because as we've seen with substantial developments 

that have come before this Planning Commission in prior 
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years and I look forward to more coming before us, that 

leads to more progress.  It leads to more potential 

development.  

As to your point, it's demonstrated that 

the government is in the position to be able to handle 

and consider it professionally and fairly, that the 

business climate is there, the consumer sentiment is 

there, the employee pool is strong.  We want to 

reinforce that with every new or expanded project and 

that's inclusive for what you're offering which is 

really a constellation of companies, a constellation of 

tenants, even if it's not one big kahuna, one big fish. 

We've seen that, for example, with 

Mr. Shepard's building, with the Riker Building that it 

can be leveraged very effectively for the region to 

take a renewed look and renewed notice of Pontiac 

(inaudible) downtown.  No questions, thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner 

Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Well, and thank 

you.  Okay.  Good comments.  I just have one question.  

How do you apply all that paint?  Is that an air brush 

or -- 

MR. DINHA:  Absolutely not.  So the 

process will involve for starters, it's power washed 
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with a sandblast media.  So as opposed to just air 

compressor sand blast, imagine your power washer you 

clean your deck with, instead of having soap, a little 

bottle of soap that you spray, it's a bottle of sand.  

And that sand mixed with the water will take off the 

existing paint.  And then we roll on primer and then we 

roll on two coats of paint.  So there's no spray, it's 

all a rolled application.  Any spray when you get it 80 

feet in the air will blow all over the place and be a 

disaster.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Yeah, yeah.  

Okay.  Thank you.  I was just wondering about the 

process.  

MR. DINHA:  And the paint's bought at 

Sherwin Williams in Pontiac, by the way.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  And the sand 

that's used, how is that captured?  Does it get reused?  

MR. DINHA:  So because it's actually just 

real sand, there is no other media in it, it falls 

right into the grass and it goes right into the 

grass.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Okay, thanks.  

MR. DINHA:  Actually on the -- it would be 

the east side of Tower 1, there's a roof drain which 

even though we don't control the plaza rooftop, we 
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replaced that roof drain a couple weeks ago.  And so 

we'll have to cover that area with plywood to make sure 

no sand gets down into that drain.  But these are all 

things that we deal with everyday as professionals.  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  Undertaken.  

Thank you.  Thank you for answering my question.  That 

does it for me.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Commissioner Shepard?  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  There are very few 

people I know that we should have here doing this 

project so -- and I've known Tarik for a few years, and 

they would all try to get him here.  But it's an 

overwhelming project and I can't imagine too many other 

people that would have taken it on and he's the guy to 

do it.  I've watched some of his other buildings and I 

have had long talks.  We both started down in that 

housing world.  

MR. DINHA:  Absolutely.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I think I met him 

about 15 years ago and didn't really realize I met him 

again now a few years ago.  He had several hundred 

houses, was making something work that very few people 

could do and he's moved into this next world.  So -- 

and he'll fill his buildings.  That's what most people 

can't do.  What he's about to do is what most people 
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can't do.  That's the world that we all struggle with.  

It's one thing to get your building redone, it's 

another thing -- just don't steal all my tenants -- but 

it's another thing to take those buildings and fill it 

up with a good crowd and he is the guy.  You don't want 

to have a high rise next to him because he is the guy 

that will make it work long term.  So without making 

your head any bigger, but well appreciated.  

MR. DINHA:  As you know, I started my 

business with $3,300.  3 houses I bought for $3,300, 

going in areas a SWAT team doesn't go to without 

backup.  So I think that Pontiac's a privilege that I 

get to be here again and I'm happy to be here.  

I'm not going to steal your tenants. 

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  I was kidding.  

MR. DINHA:  Our buildings are too totally 

different.  You have character.  You have the elegance.  

And but much like Tim, see, these buildings are a labor 

of love for me.  Like, my love comes from transforming 

it and fixing it.  So I'm over there, I know the 

mechanicals of the building.  If there's an issue, I 

mean, I have fixed toilets in there myself.  I'm the 

guy that will do it.  I don't make excuses.  I just 

want to get it done and be proud and build a legacy.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  But he'll bring in 
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the 20,000 square foot tenants.  That's not my world.  

He's the guy that can bring those companies.  

MR. DINHA:  On that note, I got 

distracted.  So during COVID, I leased up about 300,000 

square feet, basically three Home Depots in a time when 

everyone said there is no office market.  Office 

brokers would call me and say "T, you've got to be in 

trouble with all your office buildings.  I hear office 

is dead."  I told him you're right, stay home, stay 

safe.  Meanwhile, I was signing up tons of deals.  

Just in the pandemic, I filled the IBM 

building, over 140,000 square feet, 4 full floor deals.  

The former Honeywell headquarters building in 

Southfield across the street from IBM, about 75-, 

80,000 square feet and that was at a time when people 

said there's no leasing.  So my goal is to bring the 

Auburn Hills people that are paying $22 a foot into 

Pontiac for a smaller footprint and a bigger value and 

let them be able to walk downtown and get all the 

amenities and things we have to offer here.  

And I'd also like to say thank you as 

someone that's an investor, I'm happy to hear you guys 

got all this cannabis stuff squared away because I 

think it's been really crippling downtown with people 

who have had all these buildings optioned with no 
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intention of fixing anything or doing anything.  So 

I'll be grateful when owners say hey, you know what?  

My lottery ticket wasn't called.  I'm not going to get 

a million dollars for my $300,000 building.  Let's take 

300,000 from someone that wants to fix it and put their 

heart into it.  Happy to see that, guys, thank you.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  So thank you for 

taking the ugliest buildings and I know what you're 

about to do and they will be one of the most attractive 

ones.  Not -- maybe the third most attractive ones.  

MR. DINHA:  They're different, Tim.  

They're different.  

COMMISSIONER SHEPARD:  No, but I'm 

serious.  I mean, coming into town and seeing those as 

the first thing you see right now, it's always been 

depressing and it's not exciting.  And I know what 

you're about to do is going to make it exciting, so 

thank you for -- 

MR. DINHA:  As I said, I'm standing before 

you with a track record.  It's not "if everything goes 

100 percent as planned."  It's "This is what I do."  I 

don't work at Pep Boys during the day and do this at 

night.  You guys are in good hands.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Thank you for coming 

to us tonight just to have a conversation, not asking 

QRS Court Reporting, LLC

800.308.0068

124

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



for anything, just sharing good news.  What are the 

exteriors of these towers?  I'm trying to figure this 

out by the photos.  

MR. DINHA:  So there are metal panels that 

was constructed, it was used a lot in the late '70s and 

the early '80s as an alternative to masonry 

construction.  Think of it as aluminum siding with a 

styrofoam back, and that's basically the product. 

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  So this 

picture that I'm looking at from -- I'm on Google 

street view, is it that they're kind of peeling there 

or is it rain?  

MR. DINHA:  Really, there is some peeling 

and some what we call orange peel where it's peeling 

off or flaking off.  But really, it's about the color 

change.  Nobody really notices the flaking, but for me 

it's about a pride of ownership thing.  I invest, as I 

said, literally I'll gamble the kids' college fund.  I 

do it all the time.  My wife freaks out, but she's kind 

of used to it.  So for me, it's a matter of 

transforming it and letting the buildings be what 

they're designed to be.  You can't -- like one of my 

friends, you need to wrap the whole building in glass.  

Well, the building wasn't made to be wrapped in glass.  

Let it be what it wants to be, but at -- highlight its 
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natural accent.  

So I think it's really a matter of 

aesthetics.  The caulk, the building was recaulked, 

like, 12 years ago.  The stuff lasts for 30 years.  But 

in order to do the proper paint job, you have to cut 

out every inch of that old caulk, paint it and then 

reapply the caulk.  Otherwise, those joints will end up 

rusting and failing so -- 

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  So the image 

you have, that is actually -- those are the Towers as 

opposed to the Judson Building?  

MR. DINHA:  So that is the Judson 

Building.  They're twin buildings.  Initially, the 

architect showed an orange in two different segments.  

This one after doing the sample paint scheme, this is 

the one we landed on.  We're going to do both buildings 

identical just like they are today.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  So 29 Judson 

is not you?  

MR. DINHA:  I own 29 Judson as well.  29 

Judson is currently vacant.  I guess 31 Judson, I'm 

sorry.  31 Judson is currently vacant.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  Is that the 

old IRS building that they're -- 

MR. DINHA:  No, that's 140 Saginaw and 
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that's a whole 'nother disaster.  We'll talk to the 

code enforcement about that one.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  I don't want 

to put anybody in the hot seat.  I just trying to 

remember what was where because it's been a long time.  

So both of the Towers, 5111 and then the one to the 

north of that, is that the Judson Building?  

MR. DINHA:  East, yep.  Judson is to the 

east, yep, and Woodward's to the west.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  I'm sorry.  All 

right, thank you.  

MR. DINHA:  And actually the owner, I 

don't know, the only thing I can see that he really did 

was super smart is the Woodward Building actually had a 

Judson address.  He changed that to get a Woodward 

address.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Oh, okay.  

MR. DINHA:  And so once Park Drive is 

finished and all that's done, our goal will probably be 

to change the Judson address to Park Drive or something 

along the lines of Park Place Apartments or Pontiac 

Park Place Apartments and use something that's more 

dressy or more exciting than Judson Street, if you 

will.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Okay.  Well, this all 
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sounds very tremendous.  Thank you for caring.  Thank 

you for trying.  Thank you for including.  

MR. DINHA:  Thank you guys for welcoming 

me.  Proud to be a part of it.  We will be seeing each 

other a lot.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Good.  

MR. DINHA:  And then again, like I said, I 

was happy to be part of a city that's functioning.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  We're happy you're 

here with us.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Pontiac is open for 

business.  

MR. DINHA:  And I tell all my friends 

that, honestly.  I tell everybody.  I'm like, things 

are going, things are moving, but thank God for that 

cannabis stuff because I think that really is going to 

bring a lot of other business here that people have 

just been road blocked.  Thank you all very much.  

Appreciate your feedback.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  Thank you so much.  

Okay.  I guess next on the agenda is public comments, 

if anyone has anything that they would like to share.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  I do have a question.  I 

would like to just ask, our next Planning Commission 
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meeting is on -- would be July 6th.  Is that a date 

that could be difficult to get a quorum or not?  Or 

would you like to just keep it on -- 

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  I will be available 

July 6th.  I'm not sure what everybody else's schedule 

is.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I'll be here.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I'm here.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  Okay.  We're going to 

leave it for the 6th, thank you.  That's it from my 

end.  

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  Are you still 

looking, Commissioner Northcross?  

COMMISSIONER NORTHCROSS:  I am, I am, and 

I plan to attend.  

MR. GUSTAFSSON:  All right.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  If there are no 

public comments -- 

COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  I do want to 

just -- since she's here, I want to acknowledge that my 

colleague from the Pontiac City Council, the Honorable 

Kathalee James from District 4 is with us this evening. 

And we said it during our special meeting, 

May 23rd when we heard the Shores of Crystal Lake, but 

since this is our formal meeting, I just wanted to on 
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behalf of the citizens of Pontiac, thank Lucy Payne for 

her service on the Pontiac Planning Commission.  She -- 

my understanding is that she submitted her resignation 

in tandem with her being elected to the Pontiac Charter 

Revision Commission.  So congratulations to her, but 

thank you to Commissioner Emeritus Payne for her years 

of service on the Pontiac Planning Commission.  

We did have the second reading of the 

zoning map amendment with conditions for West Lawrence 

Street.  That was adopted by the Pontiac City Council, 

so the Lawrence Industries proposal on West Lawrence, 

that had a favorable outcome at the city council, so I 

just wanted to provide you that.  

We have done budget hearings, frequent 

budget hearings and Mr. Gustafsson did a very strong 

job of advocating for the Planning Commission in his 

budgetary requests.  And it's still an active process, 

but the budget does include funding as currently 

proposed, funding for reinforcements for master plan 

work and additional training and then other 

initiatives.  So I just wanted to share that since it's 

in the purview of the Planning Commission and you're 

flourishing and succeeding.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  And are bonuses in 

that budget too?
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COMMISSIONER McGUINNESS:  You will get a 

reinforcement of your voluntary zero compensation.  We 

will double the zero.  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  Yay.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  All right.  If there 

are no public comments, I'll close public comments.  

And may I have a motion to adjourn?  

VICE CHAIR PARLOVE:  I make a motion to 

adjourn.  

COMMISSIONER DUVALL:  I second.  

CHAIRPERSON FEGLEY:  All in favor say 

"aye".  

(All ayes.)

(Meeting adjourned at or about the hour of 

8:50 p.m.)

Minutes transcribed and prepared by:

KELLY HAIRSTON
Dated: June 13th, 2022
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TELEPHONE:  (248) 758-3700  FAX:  (248) 758-3750 
 

TO:  PONTIAC PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  DONOVAN SMITH, CITY PLANNER 
  PLANNING DIVISION  
 
SUBJECT: ZMA 22-06 ZONING MAP AMENDMENT  
    B.Y.O.P. PROPERTIES CESAR CHAVEZ LLC   
    PIN 64-14-19-426-013 & 64-14-19-4226-003 
 C-3 CORRIDOR COMMERICAL AND R-1 ONE-FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT   
                                                                       
DATE:  JUNE 29, 2022 
 
STATUS:  ZONING MAP AMENDMENT FROM C-3 TO M-1 
 
USE:  MEDICAL MARIHUANA GROWER AND PROCESSING FACILITY 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
The Planning Division has received Zoning Map Amendment (ZMA 22-06) petition for a proposed new 

construction Medical Marihuana Grower and Processing Facility. The applicant, B.Y.O.P. Properties Cesar 

Chavez, LLC, proposes to construct and operate a Medical Marihuana Grower and Processing Facility, 

and rear parking areas. The Planning Division has conducted a Technical Site Plan Review of the Zoning 

Map Amendment to determine the suitability of the proposed zoning districts. 

The subject development consist of two vacant parcels, which are located within the Cesar E Chavez 

Medical Marihuana Overlay District. The primary parcel where the Medical Marihuana Facility will be 

located is currently zoned C-3 Corridor Commercial, where a M-1 Light manufacturing Zoning District is 

required to permit a Medical Marihuana Grower or Processor located within a Medical Marihuana 

Overlay District. The second parcel located in the rear of the site is zoned R-1 Single Family Dwelling, 

which is for parking areas for the primary facility. Parking is permitted on residential property after 

approval and compliance with the Residential Exemptions of the Zoning Ordinance Section 2.304. The 

City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance does permit the proposed Medical Marihuana Uses by-right, however 

an approved Zoning Map Amendment from the Planning Commission and City Council are required prior 

to a Medical Marihuana grow and Processing License and the issuance of a Site Plan Approval. 

Preliminary Site Plan approval (SPR 22-14) was granted by the Planning Commission on June 1, 2022. 

Proposed Uses 

Grower means a commercial entity that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and packages marihuana for 

sale to a Processing or Provisioning Center, as defined in the Medical Marihuana Facility Licensing Act 

("MMFLA"). As used in this ordinance, Grower shall include Class A Growers, Class B Growers, and Class 

C Growers. 



 Vern Gustafsson 

Planning Manager 

Donovan Smith 

City Planner 

Mayor Tim Greimel 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
Planning & Zoning Division 

City Hall - 47450 Woodward Avenue 
 Pontiac, Michigan 48342-5009  

248-758-2811 | FAX 248-758-2827 

 

47450 Woodward Ave  PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342-5009 

TELEPHONE:  (248) 758-3700  FAX:  (248) 758-3750 
 

A Processor means a commercial entity that purchases marihuana from a Grower and that extracts resin 

from the marihuana or creates a Marihuana-infused product for sale and transfer in package form to a 

Provisioning Center. 

Zoning Designations: 

C-3 Corridor Commercial Mixed Use District [Current] 

This district is designed to provide for a mixture of uses that are appropriate along thoroughfare and 

collector streets that have moderate to large traffic volumes. A wide range of uses are appropriate 

within this context, including retail and service commercial, office, and low-impact light industrial uses. 

It is expected that most customers of establishments in this district will travel via automobile, and as 

there is little essential interdependence of activities, each establishment typically will have its own 

automobile parking area. 

Good traffic accessibility is essential to this district, particularly for trucks and other freight carriers. 

Some permitted uses in this district generate significant automobile and/or truck traffic. 

M-1 Light Manufacturing [Proposed] 

The intent of this district is to provide suitable location for small to moderate size industrial uses. This 

district provides for manufacturing beyond simple assembly. The further intent is to encourage and 

facilitate the development of industrial enterprises in a setting conducive to public health, promote 

economic stability, facilitate continued use of vacant properties, and to facilitate efficient traffic 

movement. It is intended that the performance standards of Article 4, Chapter 7 will be highly effective 

in regulating uses in this district. The land conducive to the intent of this district is highly limited in 

availability and is, therefore, primarily restricted to industrial use in the interest of the community’s tax 

base and economic growth and development. 

Future Land Use Designation  

Entrepreneurial: Industrial, Commercial & Green [Current] 

The Entrepreneurial: Industrial, Commercial and Green (E-ICG) is a mixed-use district that creates a great 

deal of use and form flexibility to encourage the positive re-use of vacant or under-utilized property in 

strategic locations around the City. Locations identified on the Future Land Use Map represent areas 

near or in close proximity to vacant or under-utilized property that is currently or was once used for 

commercial or industrial purposes. 

Neighborhood economic development will come in the form of small, largely local entrepreneurs who 

start businesses and create jobs in the process. Therefore, these areas allow for more flexibility to 

attract creative and motivated local entrepreneurs 

 

Section 3.11010 - Buffer Distance Restrictions 
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A. The proximity of the proposed medical marihuana facility shall not be less than: [Complies] 

1. 1,000 feet from an operational public or private school; 

2. 500 feet from an operational commercial childcare organization  (non-home  

occupation) that is licensed and registered with the State of Michigan Department of 

Health and Human Services or its successor agency; 

3. 500 feet from a public park with playground equipment; 

4. 500 feet from a religious institution that is defined as tax exempted by the Oakland 

County Assessor; and 

 

Preliminary Zoning Map Amendment Technical Review – ZMA 22-06 

A. Consistency with the goals, policies and objectives of the Master Plan and any sub-area plans. If 
conditions have changed since the Master Plan was adopted, consistency with recent 
development trends in the area shall be considered. [Complies] 

B. Compatibility of the site’s physical, geological, hydrological and other environmental features 
with the uses permitted in the proposed zoning district. [Complies] 

C. Evidence the applicant cannot receive a reasonable return on investment through developing 
the property with one (1) or more of the uses permitted under the current zoning. [Complies] 

D. Compatibility of all the potential uses allowed in the proposed zoning district with surrounding 
uses and zoning in terms of land suitability, impacts on the environment, density, nature of use, 
traffic impacts, aesthetics, infrastructure and potential influence on property values. [Complies] 

E. The capacity of the City’s utilities and services sufficient to accommodate the uses permitted in 
the requested district without compromising the health, safety and welfare of the City. 
[Complies] 

F. The capability of the street system to safely and efficiently accommodate the expected traffic 
generated by uses permitted in the requested zoning district. [Complies] 

G. The boundaries of the requested rezoning district are reasonable in relationship to surroundings 
and construction on the site will be able to meet the dimensional regulations for the requested 
zoning district. [Complies] 

H. If a rezoning is appropriate, the requested zoning district is considered to be more appropriate 
from the City’s perspective than another zoning district. [Complies] 

I. If the request is for a specific use, rezoning the land is considered to be more appropriate than 
amending the list of permitted or special land uses in the current zoning district to allow the use. 
[Complies] 

J. The requested rezoning will not create an isolated or incompatible zone in the neighborhood. 
[Complies] 



 Vern Gustafsson 

Planning Manager 

Donovan Smith 

City Planner 

Mayor Tim Greimel 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
Planning & Zoning Division 

City Hall - 47450 Woodward Avenue 
 Pontiac, Michigan 48342-5009  

248-758-2811 | FAX 248-758-2827 

 

47450 Woodward Ave  PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342-5009 

TELEPHONE:  (248) 758-3700  FAX:  (248) 758-3750 
 

 

Recommendation: 

The Recommendation of the Planning Division is for the Planning Commission to recommend Approval 

of the Zoning Map Amendment ZMA 22-06. 
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